

**FILED**

September 29, 2017

**OFFICE OF  
APPELLATE COURTS**

STATE OF MINNESOTA

IN SUPREME COURT

ADM04-8001

**ORDER REGARDING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE  
MINNESOTA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

**O R D E R**

The Minnesota Supreme Court Advisory Committee on the Rules of Civil Procedure has recommended amendments to the Minnesota Rules of Civil Procedure to promote uniformity with rules that govern procedures in federal courts, including with respect to timing provisions in those rules. The Committee also recommends amendments to Rule 63 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, regarding judicial disqualification, and other minor amendments to various rules. Finally, the Committee's report addresses the petition of the Minnesota State Bar Association, which proposed an amendment to Rule 23 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, to address the use of unclaimed funds in class action settlements. The Committee's report with the proposed amendments to the Rules of Civil Procedure is attached to this order, and can also be accessed on P-MACS, the public access site for the Minnesota Appellate Courts, under case number: ADM04-8001 - *Rules Report - Proposed Amendments to the Rules of Civil Procedure* (filed August 1, 2017). The court will consider the proposed amendments to the Minnesota Rules of Civil Procedure after reviewing any comments on the Committee's recommendations.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

1. Any person or organization wishing to provide comments in support of or in opposition to the proposed amendments shall file one copy of those comments, electronically, using the appellate courts' e-filing application, E-MACS, so as to be received no later than November 28, 2017.

2. A hearing will be held before this court to consider the proposed amendments to the Rules of Civil Procedure. The hearing will take place in Courtroom 300, Minnesota Judicial Center, 25 Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd., Saint Paul, Minnesota, on December 19, 2017, at 10 a.m. Any person or organization wishing to make an oral presentation at the hearing, in support of or in opposition to the proposed amendments, shall file, electronically, a request to appear at the hearing, along with one copy of the material to be presented, on or before November 28, 2017.

Dated: September 29, 2017

BY THE COURT:



G. Barry Anderson  
Associate Justice

**ADM04-8001  
STATE OF MINNESOTA  
IN SUPREME COURT**



**In re:**

**Supreme Court Advisory Committee  
on Rules of Civil Procedure**

---

**Recommendations of Minnesota Supreme Court  
Advisory Committee on Rules of Civil Procedure**

**Final Report  
August 1, 2017**

**Hon. Eric Hylden, Duluth  
Chair**

**Hon. G. Barry Anderson, Saint Paul  
Liaison Justice**

**Hon. Jerome Abrams, Hastings  
James Attwood, Preston  
Shannon Awsumb, Minneapolis  
John Cotter, Bloomington  
Rita Coyle DeMeules, Saint Paul  
Hon. Jennifer Frisch, Saint Paul  
Barton Gernander, Minneapolis  
Judith Hanson, Saint Paul  
William Harper, Saint Paul  
Alethea Huyser, Saint Paul  
Anna Lamb, Minneapolis**

**Cynthia Lehr, Saint Paul  
Joe Leoni, Virginia  
Hon. Mary Mahler, St. Cloud  
Hon. Laurie Miller, Minneapolis  
Nicholas N. Nierengarten, Minneapolis  
Eric Nystrom, Minneapolis  
Lawrence Rocheford, Lake Elmo  
Daniel Rogan, Minneapolis  
Markus Yira, Hutchinson  
Hon. Edward Wahl, Minneapolis**

**Michael B. Johnson, Saint Paul  
Patrick Busch, Saint Paul  
Staff Attorneys**

**David F. Herr, Minneapolis  
Reporter**

## **ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

### **Summary of Committee Recommendations**

The committee met three times in 2017 to consider several issues relating to the rules. The primary focus of the committee's work this year was to revisit the recommendation made to the Court in 2009 that would amend the timing provisions of the rules to count all days—including weekends and holidays—in calculating all time periods and make appropriate adjustments to time periods to accommodate that change. The committee also reviewed the operation of the changes made in federal court to make uniform the majority of the time limits in the rules that are expressed in days. The committee continues to recommend that these changes be made to the rules. These changes should be implemented so as to accomplish the greatest uniformity across practice areas and sets of rules, so the committee recommends that the timing changes only be implemented after other advisory committees and State Court Administration have reviewed other sets of rules and the Court may implement a comprehensive revision to all affected rules.

In addition, the committee reviewed various amendments in the federal rules since the committee's last review, and also considered other issues raised in the MSBA Petition and a Petition from the Board of Judicial Standards relating to the standard stated in Rule 63 for the disqualification or recusal of judicial officers.

In summary, the committee's recommendations are:

1. The Rules of Civil Procedure should be amended to modify the timing mechanisms under the rules. These amendments should only be made after consideration of and in conjunction with parallel amendments to other sets of rules (in particular, the General Rules of Practice, the Rules of Criminal Procedure, and the Rules of Civil Appellate Procedure). These changes should only be implemented after other advisory committees and State Court Administration have reviewed other sets of rules to identify and recommend similar amendments to timing provisions, so the court may implement a comprehensive revision to all

affected rules. The recommended amendments to the civil rules are therefore set forth in an entirely separate set of amendments found in Attachment 1.

2. The Court should reject the request of the MSBA to amend Rule 23 to require that unclaimed funds in class action settlements be dedicated to fund legal aid providers.
3. The Court should amend several rules relating to waiver of service, discovery, summary judgment, and third-party practice to conform them to their federal counterparts.
4. The Court should amend Rule 63 to incorporate as the disqualification or recusal standard for judges the specific and applicable standards established in the Code of Judicial Conduct.
5. The Court should amend Rule 10 to provide explicitly for confidential filings pursuant to law or court order.
6. The Court should make housekeeping amendments to Rules 31.01 and 67.04 to correct minor errors.
7. The Court should add an advisory committee comment to Rule 12.01 to advise litigants of a new statutory provision that creates a different time to answer than that stated in the rule.

### **Effective Date**

The committee believes that the rule amendments recommended in this report should generally be ready to be adopted to take effect on January 1, 2018. However, the committee recommends that the changes to the timing rules set forth in Recommendation 1 and Attachment 1 should only be adopted to take effect simultaneously with appropriate amendments to other court rules that deal with deadlines and counting days.

### **Style of Report**

The specific recommendation as to the existing rule is depicted in traditional legislative format, underscoring to indicate new language and ~~lined-through~~ to show deletions. Markings are omitted for the new advisory committee comments, regardless of their derivation.

Respectfully submitted,

MINNESOTA SUPREME COURT  
ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON RULES  
OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

**Recommendation 1: The Rules of Civil Procedure, As Well as Other Affected Rules, Should be Amended to Modify the Timing Mechanisms Under the Rules.**

**Introduction**

The advisory committee recommended to this Court in 2009 that it would be appropriate for Minnesota to amend the court rules to adopt changes in timing to remove differences in the counting of days for long and short periods and adopt uniform time periods using a 7-, 14-, 21-, and 28-day system. Similar changes had been made in the federal rules in 2009, and the committee believed that those changes worked well in federal court and that it would be advantageous to use the same methods of counting in days for state and federal court actions. *See* Recommendations of Minnesota Supreme Court Advisory Committee on Rules of Civil Procedure, Final Report, No. ADM04-8001 (Nov. 6, 2009), at 3-4. The committee continues to believe that recommendation is sound and that amendment of the rules to effectuate it would be wise.

The critical change made in this recommendation is the amendment of Rule 6.01 to delete subsection (b). This change would result in all days being counted for all time calculations, in accordance with the accepted rule of excluding the initial day and including the final day, unless the final day falls on a weekend or holiday. That counting rule is currently contained in Rule 6.01(a) and is consistent with the provisions of Minn. Stat. § 645.15. The proposed change would then allow relevant deadlines in the rules to occur on a 7-, 14-, 21-, and 28-day system, which would also make the majority of deadlines occur during the Monday-Friday work week, as a reply to a document served on a Tuesday would, generally, be due on another Tuesday, either 7, 14, 21, or 28 days later. Existing periods longer than 28 days would not be changed under the proposed amendments. The changes similarly would not affect any deadline or period measured in hours, weeks, months, or years.

One of the primary goals of this recommendation is uniformity, and the committee believes it should only be implemented after consideration of how the changes would operate in conjunction with the Minnesota General Rules of Practice, Minnesota Rules of Criminal Procedure, Minnesota Rules of Civil Appellate Procedure, and other rules. Ideally, the uniform counting rules would apply in all proceedings, but the committee recognizes that the extension of deadlines to seven days where the periods are currently shorter may not be feasible in some instances. Thus, the committee recommends that the effective date of this particular set of amendments be coordinated with review by other advisory committees of other sets of rules and a single effective date implemented. The proposed draft of Rule 6 includes a “saving” provision that would allow any other rule or statute expressly to provide for a period shorter than seven days, defined to exclude Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays.

It is also important to give full consideration to the recommended changes to Rule 6 because it is either incorporated by reference or repeated verbatim in other rules. *See, e.g.*, Minn. R. Civ. App. P. 126.01 (mandating use of Minn. R. Civ. P. 6.01 & 6.05 to compute time); Minn. Gen. R. Prac. 354 (restating and applying Rule 6 for Expedited Child Support Process cases).

Under these revisions in the civil rules, the shortest time periods measured in days become seven-day periods, and this works well for the civil rules. The committee understands that many events in state court proceedings occur with deadlines that are shorter than seven days and that changing them to seven days may not be appropriate. The potential impact should be considered by the Court’s other advisory committees before these changes are implemented.

The committee is also aware that the ultimate decision on the implementation of these changes will need to consider the costs to the judicial branch in implementing them. By way of example only, it will be necessary to adjust the trial and appellate courts’ case-management systems to accommodate the new timing rules. The committee has not analyzed these costs.



Because these changes would best be considered for separate implementation, they are set forth in Attachment 1, and the changes are not reflected in any other proposed language in this report.

### **Specific Recommendations**

The Minnesota Rules of Civil Procedure should be amended as set forth in Attachment 1. This recommendation should be considered in tandem with consideration of similar changes in the Minnesota General Rules of Practice, Minnesota Rules of Criminal Procedure, Minnesota Rules of Civil Appellate Procedure, and other rules.

**Recommendation 2:        The Court Should Reject the Request of the MSBA to Amend Rule 23 to Require Unclaimed Funds in Class-Action Settlements be Dedicated to Fund Legal Aid Providers**

**Introduction**

The Minnesota State Bar Association petitioned the Court, among other things, to amend Rule 23 to require that in any class-action settlement or judgment that resulting in the collection of funds that are not claimed and distributed in the claims process, the dedication of one-half of those unclaimed funds to finance legal services organizations. The committee gave careful consideration to this proposal, and invited the representatives of the petitioning MSBA as well as two prominent members of the class-action bar to speak to the committee and answer questions about the proposal.

The specific MSBA proposals would amend Rule 23.05 to require inclusion in any order approving settlement of a class action a provision to provide for the distribution of “residual funds.” That provision has no counterpart in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure dealing with class actions. The proposal would also create a new Rule 23.11, requiring in all class actions that at least 50% of any residual funds be distributed to the Minnesota Legal Services Advisory Committee (“LSAC”). This mandatory provision would apply in all class actions, without regard to the nature of their claims or of any relationship to LSAC’s or legal aid’s role in the litigation or interest in the issues litigated. This proposed provision also has no counterpart in the federal rules, and is in fact inconsistent with numerous federal class-action decisions. *See, e.g., Caligiuri v. Symantec Corp.*, 855 F.3d 860, 866–67 (8th Cir. 2017) (*cy pres* distribution permitted only to extent distribution to parties not feasible, and then only to purpose as close as possible to goals of the class action); *Oetting v. Green Jacobson, P.C. (In re BankAmerica Corp. Securities Litigation)*, 775 F.3d 1060 (8th Cir. 2015) (same); *Schwartz v. Dallas Cowboys Football Club, Ltd.*, 362 F. Supp. 2d 574, 577 (E.D. Pa. 2005) (distribution to worthy charity, a law school clinical program, not allowed under

*cy pres* doctrine where charity had no relation to Sherman Act issues in class action).

The starting point of the advisory committee's consideration was to recognize that the LSAC is a worthwhile fund supporting an underfunded cause. The committee does not view, however, that automatic dedication of unclaimed funds from all class action settlements is an appropriate action.

As to the more mechanical aspects of class action settlements, the committee believes that two overarching principles warrant the Court's attention in reviewing this recommendation. They both relate to uniformity.

First, this Court has, wisely in the opinion of the committee, traditionally favored uniformity of the state and federal rules, particularly in matters where the state courts do not frequently encounter the issues. Class action litigation is probably the paradigm example of the benefit of uniformity. There have historically been relatively few class actions litigated in Minnesota and consequently few published opinions to guide the courts. This paucity of cases has only been exacerbated by the adoption of the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1453, & 1711–15, which has shifted many class actions to the federal courts. Having Minnesota's Rule 23 conform closely to its federal counterpart has the substantial benefit to Minnesota litigants and judges of providing a robust body of law that is persuasive, if not precedential, on class actions in Minnesota. *See generally* WILLIAM RUBENSTEIN, ALBA CONTE & HERBERT G. NEWBERG, *NEWBERG ON CLASS ACTIONS* (4th & 5th editions) (multiple volumes).

In addition to not hewing to the federal rules, and probably more significantly, the MSBA proposal does not adhere to the well-established common law relating to *cy pres* distributions in the class action context. The *cy pres* doctrine arose in equity, specifically in the law of trusts. From the Norman French, *cy près comme possible* means "as near as possible." *See In re Airline Ticket Comm'n Antitrust Litigation*, 307 F.3d 679, 682 (8th Cir. 2002). The doctrine in

equity provided a means for effectuating the intent of a trust grantor, rather than allowing a grant or bequest to fail, when the express purpose of a bequest was impossible to achieve. Minnesota law provides expressly for the *cy pres* doctrine in the context of charitable trusts, authorizing modification of an instrument to enforce its original intent in limited circumstances, *see* MINN. STAT. § 501B.31, subd. 4(c), and requiring notice to the Attorney General of any effort to modify or depart from the original purposes of the trust. *See* MINN. STAT. § 501B.41, subd. 2(2). Under the statute, the threshold requirements for any redirection of funds under the *cy pres* doctrine are 1) the impossibility or impracticality of effectuating the trust according to its terms and 2) the availability of an alternate means that will “as nearly as possible, accomplish the general purposes of the instrument and the intention of the grantor.” MINN. STAT. § 501B.31, subd. 4(c).

The use of *cy pres* principles in the class-action context is a newer development, but has become a frequent part of class action litigation. The authoritative ALI PRINCIPLES OF THE LAW OF AGGREGATE LITIGATION § 3.07 (2010) addresses and distills the substantial federal case law on this subject:

### **§ 3.07 Cy Pres Settlements**

A court may approve a settlement that proposes a *cy pres* remedy even if such a remedy could not be ordered in a contested case. The court must apply the following criteria in determining whether a *cy pres* award is appropriate:

- (a) If individual class members can be identified through reasonable effort, and the distributions are sufficiently large to make individual distributions economically viable, settlement proceeds should be distributed directly to individual class members.
- (b) If the settlement involves individual distributions to class members and funds remain after distributions (because some class members could not be identified or chose not to participate), the settlement should presumptively provide for further distributions to participating class members unless the amounts involved are too small to make individual distributions economically viable or other specific reasons exist that would make such further distributions impossible or unfair.

(c) If the court finds that individual distributions are not viable based upon the criteria set forth in subsections (a) and (b), the settlement may utilize a *cy pres* approach. The court, when feasible, should require the parties to identify a recipient whose interests reasonably approximate those being pursued by the class. If, and only if, no recipient whose interests reasonably approximate those being pursued by the class can be identified after thorough investigation and analysis, a court may approve a recipient that does not reasonably approximate the interests being pursued by the class.

The ALI Principles have been employed by many courts. The requirement of a nexus between the issues in the class action and the recipients of any *cy pres* distribution is well-recognized in federal court class-action litigation. *See, e.g., In re BankAmerica Corp. Sec. Litig.*, 775 F.3d at 1067; *Dallas Cowboys Football Club, Ltd.*, 362 F. Supp. 2d at 577.

The mandatory and rigid application of a *cy pres* distribution rule that would require distribution of the class's funds to a predetermined charity, untethered to the nature of the class action or the interests of class members, is inconsistent with *cy pres* law. The alternative suggestion for a rule that would merely provide that it is *permissible* to include LSAC as a potential recipient of unclaimed funds in class action settlements would not be helpful, as it would be merely hortatory in nature and would codify only a part of the existing practice: under the current rule and common law parties may designate LSAC (or other entities that may be related to the particular litigation) as a recipient of funds. Moreover, the MSBA's petition acknowledges that legal aid providers have received substantial *cy pres* distributions in three cases. *See MSBA Petition* at 38, ¶ 38.

Additionally, several members of the advisory committee would reject the proposed rule as raising the potential of violation of separation-of-powers principles. They believe that the MSBA's proposal is properly considered by the legislature, not by this Court.

### **Specific Recommendation**

For these reasons, the committee does not recommend the adoption of the proposed amendments to Rule 23.

**Recommendation 3: The Court Should Amend Several Rules Relating to Waiver of Service, Discovery, Summary Judgment and Impleader to Conform Them to Their Federal Counterparts**

**Introduction**

The committee reviewed several sets of amendments to the federal rules that have been adopted since the committee’s last such review. Some of the amendments are either irrelevant to Minnesota practice or are not compatible with the differing case assignment systems and case management resources in state court. Many are, however, worthwhile and appear to have worked well in federal court practice. Because the federal amendments were adopted in several different “batches,” and relate to different general subjects, this report groups the recommendations by subject matter.

The current state court provision for service by mail does not work well. There is little incentive for a defendant to accept service in this manner, and the rule suggests that service by mail is legally valid. Under the current rule, the defendant is free to ignore the attempt to serve by mail.

Please note: the recommendations in this section do not reflect other amendments recommended elsewhere in this report. If all are adopted by the court, they will need to be dovetailed into a single adoption order, either with or without the timing changes recommended in Recommendation 1.

- 2 This recommendation 3 is set forth in five parts:
- 3 A. Waiver of Service,
- 4 B. Discovery Rules,
- 5 C. Summary Judgment Rule,
- 6 D. Impleader Rule, and
- 7 E. Specific MSBA Proposals Not Recommended for Adoption.

## Specific Recommendations

### A. Waiver of Service.

Rule 4.05 should be amended to replace the current process of “Acknowledgment of Service by Mail” with a more effective and reliable process using “Waiver of Service.” A companion change should be made to Rule 3.

### ~~4.05. Service by Mail~~

~~In any action service may be made by mailing a copy of the summons and of the complaint (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to the person to be served, together with two copies of a notice and acknowledgment conforming substantially to Form 22 and a return envelope, postage prepaid, addressed to the sender.~~

~~If acknowledgment of service under this rule is not received by the sender within the time defendant is required by these rules to serve an answer, service shall be ineffectual.~~

~~Unless good cause is shown for not doing so, the court shall order the payment of the costs of personal service by the person served if such person does not complete and return the notice and acknowledgment of receipt of summons within the time allowed by these rules.~~

### 4.05. Waiving Service of Summons

(a) Requesting a Waiver. An individual, corporation, or association that is subject to service under Rule 4.03 has a duty to avoid unnecessary expenses of serving the summons. A plaintiff may request that the defendant waive service of a summons. The notice and request must:

(1) be in writing and be addressed:

(A) to the individual defendant; or

(B) for a defendant subject to service under Rule 4.03(b)-(e) to the agent authorized to receive service;

(2) be accompanied by a copy of the complaint, two copies of Form 22B or a substantially similar form, and a prepaid means for returning a signed copy of the form;



- 38 (3) inform a defendant, using Form 22B or a substantially similar form, of  
39 the consequences of waiving and not waiving service;  
40 (4) state the date when the request is sent;  
41 (5) give a defendant 30 days after the request was sent—or 60 days if sent  
42 to a defendant outside the United States—to return the waiver; and  
43 (6) be sent by first-class mail or other reliable means.

44  
45 **(b) Failure to Waive.** If a defendant located within the United States fails,  
46 without good cause, to sign and return a waiver requested by a plaintiff located  
47 within the United States, the court must impose on the defendant:

- 48 (1) the expenses later incurred in making service; and  
49 (2) the reasonable expenses, including attorney’s fees, of any motion  
50 required to collect those service expenses.

51  
52 **(c) Time to Answer After a Waiver.** A defendant who, before being  
53 served with process, timely returns a signed waiver need not serve an answer to  
54 the complaint until 60 days after the request was sent to that defendant—or until  
55 90 days after it was sent to that defendant outside the United States.

56  
57 **(d) Results of Filing of a Waiver.** When a plaintiff files a waiver of  
58 service, proof of service is not required and these rules apply as if a summons and  
59 complaint had been served at the date of signing of the waiver.

60  
61 **(e) Jurisdiction and Venue Not Waived.** Waiving service of a summons  
62 does not waive any objection to personal jurisdiction or to venue.

63 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

64 Rule 4.05 is completely revamped to replace the somewhat unreliable  
65 procedure relying on the “Acknowledgement of Service” form with a more  
66 straightforward procedure, used in federal court since 1993, relying on a “Waiver  
67 of Service” form. New Rule 4.05 is modeled closely on its federal counterpart.

68 The former procedure created the illusion that valid service could be  
69 accomplished by U.S. Mail, but it was a procedure that gave control over the  
70 process completely to the defendant and little incentive to a plaintiff to make use  
71 of it. This rule does not authorize service by mere mailing—it is necessary for the  
72 defendant to waive formal service and return the waiver-of-service form. Service  
73 is accomplished and proven by the waiver, not the mailing. Additionally, the new  
74 procedure is not limited to delivery by mail or any other means expressly  
75 authorized by these rules—it allows valid service to be accomplished by any means  
76 that is agreed to the defendant being served—mail, private courier, email, or even  
77 social media would all be acceptable if the defendant agreed to waive service under  
78 this rule. The only requirement is that the defendant sign and return a waiver-of  
79 service form.

80

81 **3.01. Commencement of the Action**

82  
83 A civil action is commenced against each defendant:

- 84 (a) when the summons is served upon that defendant; or  
85 (b) at the date of ~~acknowledgement of service if service is made by mail~~  
86 ~~or other means consented to by the defendant either in writing or~~  
87 ~~electronically~~ signing of a waiver of service pursuant to Rule 4.05;  
88 or  
89 (c) when the summons is delivered to the sheriff in the county where the  
90 defendant resides for service; but such delivery shall be ineffectual  
91 unless within 60 days thereafter the summons is actually served on  
92 that defendant or the first publication thereof is made.

93  
94 Filing requirements are set forth in Rule 5.04, which requires filing with the  
95 court within one year after commencement for non-family cases.

96 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

97 Rule 3.01 is amended to implement the amendment to Rule 4.05, which  
98 replaces the somewhat unreliable procedure involving the “Acknowledgement of  
99 Service” form with a more straightforward procedure relying on a “Waiver of  
100 Service” form. Rule 3.01 defines the date of commencement of an action using the  
101 wavier of process procedure.

102  
103  
104 **APPENDIX OF FORMS**

105  
106 ~~**FORM 22 – NOTICE AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF SERVICE BY**~~  
107 ~~**MAIL**~~

108  
109 ~~**NOTICE**~~

110  
111 ~~TO: (insert the name and address of the person to be served.)~~

112  
113 ~~—The enclosed summons and complaint are served pursuant to Rule 4.05 of the~~  
114 ~~Minnesota Rules of Civil Procedure.~~

115  
116 ~~—You must complete the acknowledgment part of this form and return one copy~~  
117 ~~of the completed form to the sender within 20 days.~~

118  
119 ~~—Signing this Acknowledgment of Receipt is only an admission that you have~~  
120 ~~received the summons and complaint, and does not waive any other defenses.~~

121  
122  
123  
124  
125  
126  
127  
128  
129  
130  
131  
132  
133  
134  
135  
136  
137  
138  
139  
140  
141  
142  
143  
144  
145  
146  
147  
148  
149  
150  
151  
152  
153  
154  
155  
156  
157  
158  
159  
160  
161  
162  
163

~~— You must sign and date the acknowledgment. If you are served on behalf of a corporation, unincorporated association (including a partnership), or other entity, you must indicate under your signature your relationship to that entity. If you are served on behalf of another person and you are authorized to receive process, you must indicate under your signature your authority.~~

~~— If you do not complete and return the form to the sender within 20 days, you (or the party on whose behalf you are being served) may be required to pay any expenses incurred in serving a summons and complaint in any other manner permitted by law.~~

~~— If you do complete and return this form, you (or the party on whose behalf you are being served) must answer the complaint within 20 days. If you fail to do so, judgment by default will be taken against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.~~

~~— I declare, under penalty of perjury, that this Notice and Acknowledgment of Receipt of Summons and Complaint was mailed on (insert date).~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_  
Signature~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_  
Date of Signature~~

~~ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT~~

~~— I declare, under penalty of perjury, that I received a copy of the summons and of the complaint in the above captioned matter at (insert address).~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_  
Signature~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_  
Relationship to Entity/Authority to  
Receive Service of Process~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_  
Date of Signature~~

**Proposed Forms 22A and 22B**  
(Note: Forms 22A and 22B are new, but underscoring to indicate

164 what is being added in these forms is omitted from this Report to improve  
165 readability)

166  
167 **FORM 22A. NOTICE OF LAWSUIT AND REQUEST FOR WAIVER OF**  
168 **SERVICE OF SUMMONS**

169 TO: (insert the name and address of the person to be served.)  
170

171 **Why Are You Getting this?**

172 A copy of a Summons and Complaint is attached to this notice. This is not  
173 formal service of the summons on you, but rather is my request that you sign and  
174 return the enclosed waiver of service in order to avoid the cost of serving you. The  
175 cost of service will be avoided if I receive a signed copy of the waiver within \_\_\_  
176 days after the date designated below as the date on which this Notice and Request  
177 is sent.

178 I enclose a stamped and addressed envelope (or other means of cost-free  
179 return) for your use. An extra copy of the waiver is also attached for your records.  
180 If you comply with this request and return the signed waiver, it will be filed with  
181 the court and no summons will be served on you. The action will then proceed as  
182 if you had been served on the date the waiver is signed, except that you will not be  
183 obligated to answer the complaint before 60 days from the date designated below  
184 as the date on which this notice is sent (or before 90 days from that date if your  
185 address is outside the United States).

186 **What Happens Next?**

187 If you do not return the signed waiver form within the time indicated, I will  
188 arrange to have the summons and complaint served on you (or the party on whose  
189 behalf you are addressed) and will then, to the extent authorized by court rules, ask  
190 the court to require you (or the party on whose behalf you are addressed) to pay  
191 the full costs of such service. Your duty to waive the service of the summons is  
192 explained on the reverse side (or at the foot) of this waiver form.

193 I affirm that this request is being sent to you on behalf of the plaintiff, this  
194 \_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_.

195  
196  
197  
198  
199

\_\_\_\_\_  
Signature

200 **FORM 22B. WAIVER OF SERVICE OF SUMMONS**

201 TO: \_\_\_\_\_ (name of plaintiff’s attorney or unrepresented plaintiff)

202 I received your request that I waive service of a summons in the lawsuit of  
203 \_\_\_\_ (caption of action) \_\_\_\_, in the District Court for the \_\_\_\_ District of  
204 Minnesota, \_\_\_\_\_ County. I have also received a copy of the complaint in  
205 the lawsuit, two copies of this document, and a means for returning the signed  
206 waiver to you without cost to me. I agree to save the cost of service of the  
207 summons and complaint in this lawsuit.

208 I understand that I (or the entity on whose behalf I am acting) will retain all  
209 defenses or objections to the lawsuit or to the jurisdiction or venue of the court  
210 except for objections based on a defect in the summons or in the service of the  
211 summons. I understand that a judgment may be entered against me (or the party on  
212 whose behalf I am acting) if an answer or motion under Rule 12 is not served upon  
213 you within 60 days after \_\_\_\_ (date request was sent) \_\_\_\_, or within 90 days after  
214 that date if the request was sent outside the United States.

215 \_\_\_\_\_

216 Date

217 \_\_\_\_\_

218 Signature

219 \_\_\_\_\_

220 Printed/typed name:

221

222 [Note: To be printed on reverse side of the waiver form or set forth at the foot of  
223 the form]:

224 **DUTY TO AVOID UNNECESSARY COSTS OF SERVICE OF SUMMONS**

225 Rule 4 of the Minnesota Rules of Civil Procedure requires certain parties to  
226 cooperate in saving unnecessary costs of service of the summons and complaint. A  
227 defendant located in the United States who, after being notified of an action and  
228 asked by a plaintiff located in the United States to waive service of a summons,  
229 fails to do so will be required to bear the cost of such service unless good cause be  
230 shown for its failure to sign and return the waiver. It is not good cause for a failure  
231 to waive service that a party believes that the complaint is unfounded, or that the  
232 action has been brought in an improper place or in a court that lacks jurisdiction  
233 over the subject matter of the action or over its person or property.

234 A party who waives service of the summons retains all defenses and  
235 objections (except any relating to the summons or to the service of the summons),  
236 and may later object to the jurisdiction of the court or to the place where the action  
237 has been brought. A defendant who waives service must within the time specified  
238 on the waiver form serve on the plaintiff's attorney (or unrepresented plaintiff) a  
239 response to the complaint. If the answer or motion is not served within this time, a  
240 default judgment may be taken against that defendant. By waiving service, a  
241 defendant is allowed more time to answer than if the summons had been actually  
242 served when the request for waiver of service was received.



## **B. Discovery Rules.**

Several amendments to the discovery rules that have been made in the federal rules should be adopted in Minnesota. These amendments adopt, to the extent compatible with Minnesota's case management processes and court workload, changes that further amplify the importance of proportionality in discovery and also diminish the opportunities for obfuscation in responding to discovery requests. These amendments affect Rules 26, 34, and 37.

Rule 26 should be amended as follows:

243 **RULE 26. DUTY TO DISCLOSE;**  
244 **GENERAL PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISCOVERY**  
245

246 \* \* \*

247  
248 **26.02. Discovery Methods, Scope and Limits**  
249

250 Unless otherwise limited by order of the court in accordance with these  
251 rules, the methods and scope of discovery are as follows:  
252

253 \* \* \*

254  
255 ~~(b) **Scope and Limits.** Discovery must be limited to matters that would~~  
256 ~~enable a party to prove or disprove a claim or defense or to impeach a witness and~~  
257 ~~must comport with the factors of proportionality, including without limitation, the~~  
258 ~~burden or expense of the proposed discovery weighed against its likely benefit,~~  
259 ~~considering the needs of the case, the amount in controversy, the parties'~~  
260 ~~resources, the importance of the issues at stake in the action, and the importance of~~  
261 ~~the discovery in resolving the issues. Subject to these limitations, parties may~~  
262 ~~obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, that is relevant to a claim or~~  
263 ~~defense of any party, including the existence, description, nature, custody,~~  
264 ~~condition and location of any books, documents, or other tangible things and the~~  
265 ~~identity and location of persons having knowledge of any discoverable matter.~~  
266 ~~Upon a showing of good cause and proportionality, the court may order discovery~~  
267 ~~of any matter relevant to the subject matter involved in the action. Relevant~~  
268 ~~information sought need not be admissible at the trial if the discovery appears~~  
269 ~~reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.~~  
270

271 (b) **Scope and Limits.** Unless otherwise limited by court order, the scope  
272 of discovery is as follows: Parties may obtain discovery regarding any  
273 nonprivileged matter that is relevant to any party's claim or defense and  
274 proportional to the needs of the case, considering the importance of the issues at  
275 stake in the action, the amount in controversy, the parties' relative access to  
276 relevant information, the parties' resources, the importance of the discovery in  
277 resolving the issues, and whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery

278 outweighs its likely benefit. Information within this scope of discovery need not  
279 be admissible in evidence to be discoverable.

280 \* \* \*

281  
282  
283 **(3) Limits Required When Cumulative; Duplicative; More Convenient**  
284 **Alternative; and Ample Prior Opportunity.** The frequency or extent of use of  
285 the discovery methods otherwise permitted under these rules shall be limited by  
286 the court if it determines that:

- 287 (i) the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative, or is  
288 obtainable from some other source that is more convenient, less  
289 burdensome, or less expensive; or  
290 (ii) the party seeking discovery has had ample opportunity by discovery  
291 in the action to obtain the information sought; or  
292 (iii) the burden of proposed discovery is outside the scope permitted by  
293 Rule 26.02(b).

294 The court may act upon its own initiative after reasonable notice or  
295 pursuant to a motion under Rule 26.03.

296  
297 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

298 Rule 26.02 is amended to adopt the changes made to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b) in  
299 2015. The amendments are intended to improve the operation of the rule and to  
300 avoid some of the problems that were encountered under the former rule.

301  
302 **26.03. Protective Orders**

303  
304 **(a) In General.** Upon motion by a party or by the person from whom  
305 discovery is sought, and for good cause shown, the court in which the action is  
306 pending or alternatively, on matters relating to a deposition, the court in the  
307 district where the deposition is to be taken may make any order which justice  
308 requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression,  
309 or undue burden or expense, including one or more of the following:

- 310 (a 1) that the discovery not be had;  
311 (~~b~~2) that the discovery may be had only on specified terms and  
312 conditions, including a designation of the time or location or the allocation  
313 of expenses, for the disclosure or discovery;  
314 (e 3) that the discovery may be had only by a method of discovery other  
315 than that selected by the party seeking discovery;



316           (~~d~~ 4) that certain matters not be inquired into, or that the scope of the  
317           discovery be limited to certain matters;  
318           (e 5) that discovery be conducted with no one present except persons  
319           designated by the court;  
320           (f 6) that a deposition, after being sealed, be opened only by order of the  
321           court;  
322           (g 7) that a trade secret or other confidential research, development, or  
323           commercial information not be disclosed or be disclosed only in a  
324           designated way; or  
325           (h 8) that the parties simultaneously file specified documents or  
326           information enclosed in sealed envelopes to be opened as directed by the  
327           court.

328           **(b) Ordering Discovery.** If the motion for a protective order is denied in  
329           whole or in part, the court may, on such terms and conditions as are just, order that  
330           any party or person provide or permit discovery.

331           **(c) Awarding Expenses.** Rule 37.01(d) applies to the award of expenses  
332           incurred in connection with the motion.

333

334

#### 335                           **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

336           Rule 26.03 is amended to adopt a change made to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(c) in  
337           2015. The amendment explicitly provides that cost-shifting is one option available  
338           to the court in implementing protective relief, where appropriate. The rule is not  
339           intended to make cost-shifting a routine part of discovery motions, but recognizes  
340           that there are some situations where it is appropriate. The rule is also subdivided  
341           and numbered to make it easier to use and cite; the headings are not intended to  
342           affect the interpretation of the rule.

343

344

### 345           **26.04. Timing and Sequence of Discovery**

346

347           **(a) Timing.** Notwithstanding the provisions of Rules 26.02, 30.01,  
348           31.01(a), 33.01(a), ~~34.02~~, 36.01, and 45.01, parties may not seek discovery from  
349           any source before the parties have conferred and prepared a discovery plan as  
350           required by Rule 26.06(c) except in a proceeding exempt from initial disclosure  
351           under Rule 26.01(a)(2), or when allowed by stipulation or court order.

352

353 **(b) Early Rule 34 Requests.**

354  
355 (1) Time to Deliver. More than 21 days after the summons and  
356 complaint are served on a party, a request under Rule 34 may be  
357 delivered:  
358 (A) to that party by any other party, and  
359 (B) by that party to any plaintiff or to any other party that has been  
360 served.

361  
362 (2) When Considered Served. The request is considered to have been  
363 served when the parties have conferred and prepared a discovery  
364 plan as required by Rule 26.06(c).

365  
366 **(bc) Sequence.** Unless the court upon motion, for the convenience of parties  
367 and witnesses and in the interests of justice, orders otherwise, methods of  
368 discovery may be used in any sequence and the fact that a party is conducting  
369 discovery, whether by deposition or otherwise, shall not operate to delay any other  
370 party's discovery.

371  
372 **(ed) Expedited Litigation Track.** Expedited timing and modified content of  
373 certain disclosure and discovery obligations may be required by order of the  
374 supreme court adopting special rules for the pilot expedited civil litigation track.

375  
376 \* \* \*

377  
378 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

379 Rule 26.04 is amended to adopt a change made to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(d) in  
380 2015, which allows the service of Rule 34 requests before other discovery is  
381 permitted. The rule permits a party responding to the request additional time to  
382 prepare an appropriate response, but does not compel earlier response or  
383 production. The service of an earlier request may also provide earlier notice to a  
384 party of the need to preserve evidence for use in the case, and thus eliminate some  
385 disputes over spoliation of evidence. The effect of the rule is to authorize earlier  
386 service of Rule 34 requests but the rule does not allow a serving party to accelerate  
387 the response deadline by doing so.

388  
389  
390 **26.06. Discovery Conference and Discovery Plan**

392  
393  
394  
395  
396  
397  
398  
399  
400  
401  
402  
403  
404  
405  
406  
407  
408  
409  
410  
411  
412  
413  
414  
415  
416  
417  
418  
419  
420  
421  
422  
423  
424  
425  
426  
427  
428  
429  
430  
431  
432  
433  
434  
435

\* \* \*

**(c) Discovery Plan.** A discovery plan must state the parties' views and proposals on:

- (1) what changes should be made in the timing, form, or requirement for disclosures under Rule 26.01, including a statement of when initial disclosures were made or will be made;
- (2) the subjects on which discovery may be needed, when discovery should be completed, and whether discovery should be conducted in phases or be limited to or focused on particular issues;
- (3) any issues about disclosure ~~or~~, discovery, or preservation of electronically stored information, including the form or forms in which it should be produced;
- (4) any issues about claims of privilege or of protection as trial-preparation materials, including—if the parties agree on a procedure to assert these claims after production—whether to ask the court to include their agreement in an order;
- (5) what changes should be made in the limitations on discovery imposed under these rules or by local rule, and what other limitations should be imposed; and
- (6) any other orders that the court should issue under Rule 26.03 or under Rule 16.02 and .03.

\* \* \*

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rule 26.04 is amended to adopt a change made to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(d) in 2015, which allows the service of Rule 34 requests before other discovery is permitted. The rule permits a party responding to the request additional time to prepare an appropriate response, but does not compel earlier response or production. The service of an earlier request may also provide earlier notice to a party of the need to preserve evidence for use in the case, and thus eliminate some disputes over spoliation of evidence. The effect of the rule is to authorize earlier service of Rule 34 requests but the rule does not allow a serving party to accelerate the response deadline by doing so.

Rule 26.06(c) is amended to provide expressly for inclusion of preservation of evidence as a subject to be addressed in the discovery plan in every case. This requirement recognizes both the importance of document-preservation issues and the benefits of addressing the issue early in the case.

\* \* \*

436 **RULE 34. PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS, ELECTRONICALLY**  
437 **STORED INFORMATION, AND THINGS AND ENTRY UPON LAND**  
438 **FOR INSPECTION AND OTHER PURPOSES**

439  
440 **34.01. Scope**

441  
442 **(a) In General.** Any party may serve on any other party a request within  
443 the scope of Rule 26.02:

- 444 (1) to produce and permit the party making the request, or someone  
445 acting on the requesting party's behalf, to inspect and copy, test, or  
446 sample:

447 (A) any designated documents or electronically stored  
448 information—including writings, drawings, graphs, charts,  
449 photographs, sound recordings, images, ~~phone records~~, and other  
450 data or data compilations stored in any medium from which  
451 information can be obtained—translated, if necessary, by the  
452 respondent through detection devices into reasonably usable form, or

453 (B) to inspect and copy, test, or sample any designated tangible  
454 things that constitute or contain matters within the scope of Rule  
455 26.02 and that are in the possession, custody or control of the party  
456 upon whom the request is served, or

- 457 (2) to permit entry upon designated land or other property in the  
458 possession or control of the party upon whom the request is served  
459 for the purpose of inspection and measuring, surveying,  
460 photographing, testing, or sampling the property or any designated  
461 object or operation thereon, within the scope of Rule 26.02.

462 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

463 Rule 34.01 is amended to incorporate the scope of discovery set forth in Rule  
464 26.02. This change is made to make that limitation on the scope of any Rule 34  
465 discovery obligation clear to litigants, and is not intended to expand or narrow the  
466 scope of discovery.

467  
468 **34.02. Procedure**

469  
470 **(a) Timing.** The request may, without leave of court, be served upon any  
471 party with or after service of the summons and complaint.

472  
473 **(b) Contents of the Request.** The request:

- 474 (1) ~~shall~~ must set forth with reasonable particularity ~~the items~~ each item  
475 or category of items to be inspected ~~either by individual item or by~~  
476 category, and;
- 477 (2) ~~describe each item and category with reasonable particularity. The~~  
478 ~~request shall~~ must specify a reasonable time, place, and manner ~~of~~  
479 making for the inspection and performing the related acts; and
- 480 (3) ~~The request~~ may specify the form or forms in which electronically  
481 stored information is to be produced.

482  
483 **(c) Responses and Objections.**

- 484
- 485 (1) **Time to Respond.** The party upon whom the request is served ~~shall~~  
486 must serve a written response within 30 days after ~~the service of the~~  
487 ~~request,~~ the party is served (or deemed served pursuant to Rule  
488 26.04(b)). ~~except that a defendant may serve a response within 45~~  
489 ~~days after service of the summons and complaint upon that~~  
490 ~~defendant.~~ The court may allow a shorter or longer time.
- 491 (2) **Responding to Each Item.** The response shall state, with respect to  
492 each item or category, either that inspection and related activities  
493 will be permitted as requested, or unless the request is objected to,  
494 including an objection to the requested form or forms for producing  
495 electronically stored information, stating the reasons for objection  
496 state with specificity the grounds for objecting to the request,  
497 including the reasons. The responding party may state that it will  
498 produce copies of documents or of electronically stored information  
499 instead of permitting inspection. The production must then be  
500 completed no later than the time for inspection specified in the  
501 request or another reasonable time specified in the response.
- 502 (3) **Objections.** An objection must state whether any responsive  
503 materials are being withheld on the basis of that objection. If  
504 objection is made to part of an item or category, that part shall be  
505 specified and inspection permitted of the remaining parts.
- 506 (4) **Responding to a Request for Production of Electronically Stored**  
507 **Information.** The response may state an ~~If~~ objection is made to the a  
508 requested form or forms for producing electronically stored  
509 information. If no form was specified in the request, the responding  
510 party must state the form or forms it intends to use.

511 ~~(5) The party submitting the request may move for an order pursuant to~~  
512 ~~Rule 37 with respect to any objection to or other failure to respond to~~  
513 ~~the request or any part thereof, or any failure to permit inspection as~~  
514 ~~requested.~~

515 **(5) Producing the Documents or Electronically Stored Information.**

516 ~~Unless the parties otherwise agree, or the court otherwise orders~~  
517 ~~stipulated or ordered by the court, these procedures apply to~~  
518 ~~producing documents and electronically stored information:~~

519 ~~(Aa) A party who produces documents for inspection shall~~  
520 ~~must produce them as documents as they are kept in the~~  
521 ~~usual course of business at the time of the request and may~~  
522 ~~or, at the option of the producing party, shall organize~~  
523 ~~them to correspond with to the categories in the request;~~

524 ~~(Bb) If a request does not specify the form ~~or forms~~ for~~  
525 ~~producing electronically stored information, a responding~~  
526 ~~party must produce the information in a form or forms in~~  
527 ~~which it is ordinarily maintained or in a ~~form or forms that~~~~  
528 ~~are reasonably usable form; and~~

529 ~~(Ce) A party need not produce the same electronically stored~~  
530 ~~information in more than one form.~~

531  
532 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

533 Rule 34.02 is amended to adopt the changes made to Federal Rule 34 in 2015.  
534 The most significant change is the provision in Rule 34.02(c)(3) that requires a  
535 party asserting an objection to a request for production to disclose whether any  
536 document is being withheld from production based on those objections. This rule  
537 change has curtailed one aspect of game-playing from federal practice and has  
538 worked well in federal court. It is adopted in state court practice to accomplish the  
539 same purpose. The rule does not require a detailed log of all documents withheld,  
540 but the objecting party must make it clear that documents are being withheld based  
541 on the objections asserted. This disclosure can then support dialogue over the  
542 nature of withheld information and a motion to resolve the appropriateness of the  
543 objections asserted.

544 The rule is also reformatted to make it clearer and easier to use by adding  
545 subdivisions and headings. These formatting changes are not intended to affect the  
546 interpretation of the rule.

547  
548 **34.03. Persons Not Parties**

550           **(a) Subpoenas.** As provided in Rule 45, a nonparty may be compelled to  
551 produce documents and electronically stored information and to permit an  
552 inspection.

553  
554           **(b) Independent Actions.** This rule does not preclude an independent  
555 action against a person not a party for production of documents and things and  
556 permission to enter upon land.

557                           **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

558           Rule 34.03(a) is a new section that makes clear that Rule 34 requests may be  
559 enforced against nonparties though use of subpoenas issued pursuant to Rule 45.

560  
561           \* \* \*

562  
563           **RULE 37. FAILURE TO MAKE DISCLOSURES OR TO COOPERATE IN**  
564                           **DISCOVERY: SANCTIONS**

565  
566           **37.01. Motion for Order Compelling Disclosure or Discovery**

567  
568           **(a) Appropriate Court.** An application for an order to a party shall be  
569 made to the court in which the action is pending. An application for an order to a  
570 person who is not a party shall be made to the court in the county where the  
571 discovery is being, or is to be, taken.

572  
573           **(b) Specific Motions.**

574  
575                           (1) To Compel Disclosure. If a party fails to make a disclosure  
576 required by Rule 26.01, any other party may move to compel disclosure and  
577 for appropriate sanctions.

578  
579                           (2) To Compel a Discovery Response. A party seeking discovery  
580 may move for an order compelling an answer, designation, production, or  
581 inspection. This motion may be made if:

582                                   (A) a deponent fails to answer a question propounded or  
583 submitted under Rules 30 or 31;

584                                   (B) a corporation or other entity fails to make a designation under  
585 Rule 30.02(f) or 31.01(c);

586                                   (C) a party fails to answer an interrogatory submitted under Rule  
587 33; or

588           (D) ~~if a party, in response to a request for inspection submitted~~  
589 ~~under Rule 34, fails to respond that inspection will be permitted as~~  
590 ~~requested or fails to permit inspection as requested~~ a party fails to  
591 produce documents or fails to respond that inspection will be  
592 permitted—or fails to permit inspection—as requested under Rule  
593 34.

594  
595           The motion must include a certification that the movant has in good  
596 faith conferred or attempted to confer with the person or party failing to  
597 make the discovery in an effort to secure the information or material  
598 without court action. When taking a deposition on oral examination, the  
599 proponent of the question may complete or adjourn the examination before  
600 applying for an order.

601  
602           (c) **Evasive or Incomplete Answer, or Response.** For purposes of this  
603 subdivision an evasive or incomplete disclosure, answer, or response is to be  
604 treated as a failure to disclose, answer, or respond.

605  
606           (d) **Expenses and Sanctions.**

607  
608           (1) If the motion is granted, or if the requested discovery is provided  
609 after the motion was filed, the court shall, after affording an opportunity to  
610 be heard, require the party or deponent whose conduct necessitated the  
611 motion or the party or attorney advising such conduct or both of them to  
612 pay to the moving party the reasonable expenses incurred in making the  
613 motion, including attorney fees, unless the court finds that the motion was  
614 filed without the movant’s first making a good faith effort to obtain the  
615 discovery without court action, or that the opposing party’s nondisclosure,  
616 response, or objection was substantially justified or that other  
617 circumstances make an award of expenses unjust.

618  
619           (2) If the motion is denied, the court may enter any protective order  
620 authorized under Rule 26.03 and shall, after affording an opportunity to be  
621 heard, require the moving party or the attorney filing the motion or both of  
622 them to pay to the party or deponent who opposed the motion the  
623 reasonable expenses incurred in opposing the motion, including attorney  
624 fees, unless the court finds that the making of the motion was substantially  
625 justified or that other circumstances make an award of expenses unjust.



626  
627  
628  
629  
630  
631

(3) If the motion is granted in part and denied in part, the court may enter any protective order authorized under Rule 26.03 and may, after affording an opportunity to be heard, apportion the reasonable expenses incurred in relation to the motion among the parties and persons in a just manner.

632  
633  
634  
635  
636  
637  
638

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rule 37 is amended to adopt changes made to Federal Rule 37 in 2015. Rule 37.01(b)(2)(D) is amended to provide express authority for a motion for an order compelling discovery when a party fails to respond to a request either by the production of requested information or by the agreement to permit inspection. This amendment provides the means for enforcing the obligations under amended Rule 34.02.

639  
640

\* \* \*

641

**~~37.05. Electronically Stored Information~~**

642

643

~~Absent exceptional circumstances, a court may not impose sanctions under these rules on a party for failing to provide electronically stored information lost as a result of the routine, good faith operation of an electronic information system.~~

644  
645  
646  
647

**37.05. Failure to Preserve Electronically Stored Information.**

648  
649

If electronically stored information that should have been preserved in the anticipation or conduct of litigation is lost because a party failed to take reasonable steps to preserve it, and it cannot be restored or replaced through additional discovery, the court:

650  
651

(a) upon finding prejudice to another party from loss of the information, may order measures no greater than necessary to cure the prejudice; or

652  
653

(b) only upon finding that the party acted with the intent to deprive another party of the information's use in the litigation may:

654  
655  
656  
657

(1) presume that the lost information was unfavorable to the party;

658  
659

(2) instruct the jury that it may or must presume the information was unfavorable to the party; or

660  
661

(3) dismiss the action or enter a default judgment.

662

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

663 Rule 37.05 is amended to redefine the sanctions available for the failure to  
664 preserve electronically stored information (“ESI”). The amendment follows  
665 closely the amendment made to Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(e) in 2015 and is intended to  
666 create a clearer standard for imposition of sanctions for the failure to preserve  
667 electronically stored information. First, the rule looks to ameliorating any  
668 prejudice by allowing discovery to restore or replace the missing information. This  
669 might be accomplished by locating alternate copies of the information, or  
670 reconstructing backed up copies. In the absence of prejudice, the rule does not  
671 authorize the imposition of sanctions for loss of information. The rule does not  
672 limit other sanctions based on conduct other than failure to preserve ESI. If  
673 prejudice does occur, the amended rule requires that a remedial sanction be  
674 implemented—one that is designed and limited to curing the prejudice. Most often,  
675 this would be an order limiting precluding evidence or limiting claims or defenses  
676 affected by the missing ESI. If the missing ESI was intentionally destroyed or  
677 otherwise made unavailable, the rule allows the more drastic sanctions of  
678 imposition of a presumption or either allowing or requiring a jury either to  
679 draw an adverse inference that the information was unfavorable to the party or, in  
680 egregious situations, dismiss the action or grant a default judgment.

681 By its terms, this rule applies only to failure to produce ESI where there is a  
682 duty to preserve it. There is no reason, however, that the courts should not, in the  
683 exercise of their discretion, follow this rule where there is the failure to preserve  
684 other evidence, such as physical evidence or documents in non-electronic form.



### C. Summary Judgment Rule.

Rule 56 relating to summary judgment should be amended to conform to its federal counterpart, including modernizing the language of the rule.

## RULE 56. SUMMARY JUDGMENT

### ~~56.01. For Claimant~~

685  
686  
687  
688  
689 ~~A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim, or cross claim or to~~  
690 ~~obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days~~  
691 ~~from the service of the summons, or after service of a motion for summary~~

692 judgment by the adverse party, move with or without supporting affidavits for a  
693 summary judgment in the party's favor upon all or any part thereof.

694  
695 **56.01. Motion for Summary Judgment or Partial Summary Judgment.**

696  
697 A party may move for summary judgment, identifying each claim or  
698 defense—or the part of each claim or defense—on which summary judgment is  
699 sought. The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is  
700 no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment  
701 as a matter of law. The court shall state on the record or in a written decision the  
702 reasons for granting or denying the motion.

703  
704 **~~56.02. For Defending Party~~**

705  
706 ~~A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross claim is asserted or a~~  
707 ~~declaratory judgment is sought may, at any time, move with or without supporting~~  
708 ~~affidavits for a summary judgment in the party's favor as to all or any part thereof.~~

709  
710 **56.02. Time to File a Motion.**

711  
712 Service and filing of the motion must comply with the requirements of Rule  
713 115.03 of the General Rules of Practice for the District Courts, provided that in no  
714 event shall the motion be served less than 14 days before the time fixed for the  
715 hearing. Unless the court orders otherwise, a party may not file a motion for  
716 summary judgment more than 30 days after the close of all discovery.

717  
718 **~~56.03. Motion and Proceedings Thereon~~**

719  
720 ~~Service and filing of the motion shall comply with the requirements of Rule~~  
721 ~~115.03 of the General Rules of Practice for the District Courts, provided that in no~~  
722 ~~event shall the motion be served less than ten days before the time fixed for the~~  
723 ~~hearing. Judgment shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions,~~  
724 ~~answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if~~  
725 ~~any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that either~~  
726 ~~party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment,~~  
727 ~~interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although~~  
728 ~~there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.~~

730 **56.03. Procedures.**

731  
732 **(a) Supporting Factual Positions.** A party asserting that a fact cannot  
733 be or is genuinely disputed must support the assertion by:

734 (1) citing to particular parts of materials in the record, including  
735 depositions, documents, electronically stored information, affidavits,  
736 stipulations (including those made for purposes of the motion only),  
737 admissions, interrogatory answers, or other materials; or

738 (2) showing that the materials cited do not establish the absence or  
739 presence of a genuine dispute, or that an adverse party cannot produce  
740 admissible evidence to support the fact.

741  
742 **(b) Objection That a Fact Is Not Supported by Admissible Evidence.** A  
743 party may object that the material cited to support or dispute a fact cannot be  
744 presented in a form that would be admissible in evidence.

745  
746 **(c) Materials Not Cited.** The court need consider only the cited materials,  
747 but it may consider other materials in the record.

748  
749 **(d) Affidavits.** An affidavit used to support or oppose a motion must be  
750 made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be admissible in evidence,  
751 and show that the affiant is competent to testify on the matters stated.

752  
753 **56.04. Case not Fully Adjudicated on Motion**

754  
755 ~~If, on motion pursuant to this rule, judgment is not rendered upon the whole~~  
756 ~~case or for all the relief asked and a trial is necessary, the court at the hearing on~~  
757 ~~the motion, by examining the pleadings and the evidence before it and by~~  
758 ~~interrogating counsel, shall, if practicable, ascertain what material facts exist~~  
759 ~~without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good~~  
760 ~~faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that~~  
761 ~~appear without substantial controversy, including the extent to which the amount~~  
762 ~~of damages or other relief is not in controversy, and directing such further~~  
763 ~~proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so~~  
764 ~~specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly.~~

765  
766 **56.04. When Facts Are Unavailable to the Nonmovant.**

768 If a nonmovant shows by affidavit that, for specified reasons, it cannot  
769 present facts essential to justify its opposition, the court may:

770 (a) defer considering the motion or deny it;

771 (b) allow time to obtain affidavits or to take discovery; or

772 (c) issue any other appropriate order.

773  
774 **56.05. Form of Affidavits; Further Testimony; Defense Required**

775  
776 ~~—— Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge,~~  
777 ~~shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show~~  
778 ~~affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein.~~  
779 ~~Sworn or certified copies of all documents or parts thereof referred to in an~~  
780 ~~affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. A “sworn copy” includes~~  
781 ~~documents that are authenticated by a signature under penalty of perjury, pursuant~~  
782 ~~to Minn. Stat. § 358.116. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or~~  
783 ~~opposed by depositions or by further affidavits. When a motion for summary~~  
784 ~~judgment is made and supported as provided in Rule 56, an adverse party may not~~  
785 ~~rest upon the mere averments or denials of the adverse party’s pleading but must~~  
786 ~~present specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If the adverse~~  
787 ~~party does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered~~  
788 ~~against the adverse party.~~

789  
790 **56.05. Failing to Properly Support or Address a Fact.**

791  
792 If a party fails to properly support an assertion of fact or fails to properly  
793 address another party’s assertion of fact as required by Rule 56.03, the court may:

794 (a) give an opportunity to properly support or address the fact;

795 (b) consider the fact undisputed for purposes of the motion;

796 (c) grant summary judgment if the motion and supporting materials—

797 including the facts considered undisputed—show that the movant is entitled  
798 to it; or

799 (d) issue any other appropriate order.

800  
801 **56.06. When Affidavits are Unavailable**

802  
803 ~~—— Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that the~~  
804 ~~party cannot for reasons stated present, by affidavit, facts essential to justify the~~  
805 ~~party’s opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order~~

806 ~~a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or~~  
807 ~~discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.~~

808

809 **56.06. Judgment Independent of the Motion.**

810

811 After giving notice and a reasonable time to respond, the court may:  
812 (a) grant summary judgment for a nonmovant;  
813 (b) grant the motion on grounds not raised by a party; or  
814 (c) consider summary judgment on its own initiative after identifying for  
815 the parties material facts that may not be genuinely in dispute.

816

817 ~~**56.07. Affidavits Made in Bad Faith**~~

818

819 ~~Should it appear to the satisfaction of the court at any time that any of the~~  
820 ~~affidavits presented pursuant to this rule are presented in bad faith or solely for the~~  
821 ~~purpose of delay, the court shall forthwith order the party submitting them to pay~~  
822 ~~to the other party the amount of the reasonable expenses which the filing of the~~  
823 ~~affidavits causes the other party to incur, including reasonable attorney fees, and~~  
824 ~~any offending party or attorney may be adjudged guilty of contempt.~~

825

826 **56.07. Failing to Grant All the Requested Relief.**

827

828 If the court does not grant all the relief requested by the motion, it may  
829 enter an order stating any material fact—including an item of damages or other  
830 relief—that is not genuinely in dispute and treating the fact as established in the  
831 case.

832

833 **56.08. Affidavit Submitted in Bad Faith.**

834

835 If satisfied that an affidavit under this rule is submitted in bad faith or  
836 solely for delay, the court—after notice and a reasonable time to respond—may  
837 order the submitting party to pay the other party the reasonable expenses,  
838 including attorney’s fees, it incurred as a result. An offending party or attorney  
839 may also be held in contempt or subjected to other appropriate sanctions.

840

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

841

Rule 56 is extensively revamped to improve its operation. These amendments  
842 closely follow the amendments to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

843 in 2010. They are not intended to change substantially practice under the rule, and  
844 very carefully preserve the familiar test of “no genuine dispute as to any material  
845 fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law” in Rule 56.01.

846 Rule 56.03(c) makes it clear that the court is not required to consider any  
847 matters beyond those filed in conjunction with the motion for summary  
848 judgment—filed by either the movant or any other parties. Rule 115.03(d) of the  
849 Minnesota General Rules of Practice sets forth specific requirements for what must  
850 be filed for summary judgment motions and responses. Rule 56.03 also retains,  
851 however, the traditional rule allowing the court to base either the grant or denial of  
852 summary judgment on any factual material contained in the record—this means  
853 the entire court file record, including all pleadings, other filings, and transcripts of  
854 arguments or hearings.

855 Rule 56.03(d) refers to “affidavits” as that term is defined for all proceedings  
856 by Rule 15 of the Minnesota General Rules of Practice. That rule encompasses  
857 both statements signed, sworn to, and notarized and statements signed under  
858 penalty of perjury in accordance with the rule.

859 Rule 56.06 carries forward the existing procedure allowing entry of judgment  
860 in favor of the movant or nonmovant, granting the motion on grounds other than  
861 those argued, or considering summary judgment on its own initiative. *See, e.g.,*  
862 *Del Hayes & Sons, Inc. v Mitchell*, 304 Minn. 275, 230 N.W.2d 588 (1975) (sua  
863 sponte grant of summary judgment allowed). Where the court acts on its own  
864 initiative, the rule specifies that the parties are entitled to notice of its view about  
865 fact issues that may not be in dispute. That notice should precede any order for  
866 summary judgment by the 14-day minimum notice period specified in Rule 56.02.

**If the Court adopts the foregoing amendments to Rule 56, and particularly, adopts recommended Rule 56.02, then it should also amend Rule 115.01(b) of the Minnesota General Rules of Practice to correct the cross-reference to the renumbered rule:**

867 **MINNESOTA GENERAL RULES OF PRACTICE**

868 **PART C. MOTIONS**

869 \* \* \*

870  
871 **Rule 115.01. Scope and Application**

872  
873  
874 This rule shall govern all civil motions, except those in family court matters  
875 governed by Minn. Gen. R. Prac. 301 through 379 and in commitment proceedings

876 subject to the Special Rules of Procedure Governing Proceedings Under the  
877 Minnesota Commitment and Treatment Act.

878 **(a) Definitions.** Motions are either dispositive or nondispositive, and are  
879 defined as follows:

880 (1) Dispositive motions are motions which seek to dispose of all or part of  
881 the claims or parties, except motions for default judgment. They include motions  
882 to dismiss a party or claim, motions for summary judgment and motions under  
883 Minn. R. Civ. P. 12.02(a)-(f).

884 (2) Nondispositive motions are all other motions, including but not limited  
885 to discovery, third party practice, temporary relief, intervention or amendment of  
886 pleadings.

887 **(b) Time.** The time limits in this rule are to provide the court adequate  
888 opportunity to prepare for and promptly rule on matters, and the court may modify  
889 the time limits, provided, however, that in no event shall the time limited be less  
890 than the time established by Minn. R. Civ. P. ~~56.03~~ 56.02. Whenever this rule  
891 requires documents to be filed with the court administrator within a prescribed  
892 period of time before a specific event, and the documents are not required to be  
893 filed electronically, filing may be accomplished by mail, subject to the following:  
894 (1) 3 days shall be added to the prescribed period; and (2) filing shall not be  
895 considered timely unless the documents are deposited in the mail within the  
896 prescribed period. If service of documents on parties or counsel by mail is  
897 permitted, it is subject to the provisions of Minn. R. Civ. P. 5.02 and 6.05.

898 \* \* \*  
899



#### **D. Impleader Rule**

Rule 14 relating to third-party practice should be amended to conform to its federal counterpart, including modernizing the language of the rule.

901  
902  
903  
904  
905

### **RULE 14. THIRD-PARTY PRACTICE**

#### **~~14.01. When Defendant May Bring in Third Party~~**



906           ~~Within 90 days after service of the summons upon a defendant, and~~  
907 ~~thereafter either by written consent of all parties to the action or by leave of court~~  
908 ~~granted on motion upon notice to all parties to the action, a defendant as a third-~~  
909 ~~party plaintiff may serve a summons and complaint, together with a copy of~~  
910 ~~plaintiff's complaint upon a person, whether or not the person is a party to the~~  
911 ~~action, who is or may be liable to the third party plaintiff for all or part of the~~  
912 ~~plaintiff's claim against the third party plaintiff and after such service shall~~  
913 ~~forthwith serve notice thereof upon all other parties to the action. Copies of third-~~  
914 ~~party pleadings shall be furnished by the pleader to any other party to the action~~  
915 ~~within five days after request therefor. The person so served, hereinafter called the~~  
916 ~~third party defendant, shall make any defenses to the third party plaintiff's claim~~  
917 ~~as provided in Rule 12 and any counterclaims against the third party plaintiff and~~  
918 ~~cross claims against other third party defendants as provided in Rule 13. The~~  
919 ~~third party defendant may assert against the plaintiff any defenses which the third-~~  
920 ~~party plaintiff has to the plaintiff's claim. The third party defendant may also~~  
921 ~~assert any claim against the plaintiff arising out of the transaction or occurrence~~  
922 ~~that is the subject matter of the plaintiff's claim against the third party plaintiff.~~  
923 ~~The plaintiff may assert any claim against the third party defendant arising out of~~  
924 ~~the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the plaintiff's claim~~  
925 ~~against the third party plaintiff, and the third party defendant thereupon shall~~  
926 ~~assert any defenses as provided in Rule 12 and any counterclaims and cross claims~~  
927 ~~as provided in Rule 13. A third party defendant may proceed in accordance with~~  
928 ~~this rule against any person who is or may be liable to the third party defendant for~~  
929 ~~all or part of the claim made in the action against the third party defendant.~~

930  
931 **14.02. When Plaintiff May Bring in Third Party**

932  
933 ~~——When a counterclaim is asserted against a plaintiff, the plaintiff may cause~~  
934 ~~a third party to be brought in under circumstances which, pursuant to Rule 14.01,~~  
935 ~~would entitle defendant to do so.~~

936  
937 **14.03. Orders for Protection of Parties and Prevention of Delay**

938  
939 ~~——The court may make such orders to prevent a party from being embarrassed~~  
940 ~~or put to undue expense, or to prevent delay of the trial or other proceeding by the~~  
941 ~~assertion of a third party claim, and may dismiss the third party claim, order~~  
942 ~~separate trials, or make other orders to prevent delay or prejudice. Unless~~

943 ~~otherwise specified in the order, a dismissal pursuant to this rule is without~~  
944 ~~prejudice.~~

945

946 **14.01. When a Defending Party May Bring in a Third Party.**

947 **(a) Timing of the Summons and Complaint.** A defending party may, as  
948 third-party plaintiff, serve a summons and complaint on a nonparty who is or may  
949 be liable to it for all or part of the claim against it. But the third-party plaintiff  
950 must, by motion, obtain consent of all parties to the action or the court's leave  
951 granted on notice to all parties to the action if it files the third-party complaint  
952 more than 90 days after service of the summons upon that defending party.

953 **(b) Service of Complaint with Third-Party Complaint.** The third-party  
954 plaintiff must serve a copy of the plaintiff's complaint with the third-party  
955 summons and complaint.

956 **(c) Service on Other Parties.** A copy of the third-party summons and  
957 complaint must be promptly served on all other parties to the action.

958 **14.02. Third-Party Defendant's Claims and Defenses.**

959 The person served with the summons and third-party complaint—the  
960 “third-party defendant”:

961 (A) must assert any defense against the third-party plaintiff's claim  
962 under Rule 12;

963 (B) must assert any counterclaim against the third-party plaintiff under Rule  
964 13.01 and may assert any counterclaim against the third-party plaintiff  
965 under Rule 13.02 or any crossclaim against another third-party defendant  
966 under Rule 13.07;

967 (C) may assert against the plaintiff any defense that the third-party plaintiff  
968 has to the plaintiff's claim; and

969 (D) may also assert against the plaintiff any claim arising out of the  
970 transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the plaintiff's claim  
971 against the third-party plaintiff.

972

973 **14.03. Plaintiff's Claims Against a Third-Party Defendant.**

974 The plaintiff may assert against the third-party defendant any claim arising  
975 out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the plaintiff's  
976 claim against the third-party plaintiff. The third-party defendant must then assert  
977 any defense under Rule 12 and any counterclaim under Rule 13.01, and may assert

978 any counterclaim under Rule 13.02 or any crossclaim under Rule 13.07. With  
979 leave of the court, the third-party defendant may assert counterclaims permitted  
980 under Rule 13.05 or Rule 13.06.

981

982 **14.04. Motion to Strike, Sever, or Try Separately.**

983 Any party may move to strike the third-party claim, to sever it, or to try it  
984 separately.

985

986 **14.05. Third-Party Defendant's Claim Against a Nonparty.**

987 A third-party defendant may proceed under this rule against a nonparty who  
988 is or may be liable to the third-party defendant for all or part of any claim against  
989 it.

990

991 **14.06. When a Plaintiff May Bring in a Third Party.**

992 When a claim is asserted against a plaintiff, the plaintiff may bring in a  
993 third party if this rule would allow a defendant to do so.

994

995 **14.07. Defending Against a Demand for Judgment for the Plaintiff.**

996 The third-party plaintiff may demand judgment in the plaintiff's favor  
997 against the third-party defendant. In that event, the third-party defendant must  
998 defend under Rule 12 against the plaintiff's claim as well as the third-party  
999 plaintiff's claim; and the action proceeds as if the plaintiff had sued both the third-  
1000 party defendant and the third-party plaintiff.

1001 **14.08. Protective Orders for Parties and Prevention of Delay**

1002

1003 The court may make such orders to prevent a party from being embarrassed  
1004 or put to undue expense, or to prevent delay of the trial or other proceeding by the  
1005 assertion of a third-party claim, and may dismiss the third-party claim, order  
1006 separate trials, or make other orders to prevent delay or prejudice. Unless  
1007 otherwise specified in the order, a dismissal pursuant to this rule is without  
1008 prejudice.

1009

1010

1011  
1012  
1013  
1014  
1015  
1016  
1017  
1018  
1019  
1020  
1021  
1022  
1023

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rule 14 is substantially reorganized and reformatted to include paragraphing and headings. The amended rule is modeled on Fed. R. Civ. P. 14 after its restyling amendment in 2007. The committee believes that the current Rule 14.01, set forth in a single (and long) paragraph, is not particularly readable. These changes are intended to make the rule easier to use and understand, but are not intended to change the substantive interpretation of the rule. Because the rule closely follows its federal counterpart, federal court decisions on third-party practice will have greater value in interpreting the state rule.

Rule 14.08 is new in number, but identical to the former Rule 14.03, except for the change of title. “Orders for Protection” is replaced with the more familiar “Protective Orders” for limitations on discovery. This change is made to avoid confusion with restraining orders to prevent personal abuse or harassment.



**E. Specific MSBA Proposals Not Recommended for Adoption**

Although the foregoing recommendations address the majority of the recommendations advanced by the MSBA in its Petition, there are several MSBA proposals the committee does not endorse. Those are identified here to give the Court the benefit of the committee’s views on the issues raised.

1. The MSBA petitioned the Court to make scheduling orders mandatory in all cases and to require that scheduling orders compel the attendance at all pretrial conferences of an attorney armed to make stipulations and admissions. MSBA Petition at 12, ¶ 16. The MSBA proposal is derived from the federal rules, but the committee believes this recommendation is not appropriate for Minnesota court proceedings. The change would be burdensome in state court, given the dramatically higher caseload in state court compared to federal court and the greater availability of judicial adjuncts in federal court. The recommended requirement that “lead” attorneys be required to attend every conference is also too broad in reach—some judges hold conferences where this level of preparation is helpful or needed; for many cases, this requirement would only increase the cost to the litigants. Courts are free to impose this requirement if deemed appropriate in a particular case or for a specific

pretrial conference and frequently do so under the current rule. The committee believes the current rule allows the appropriate amount of district court discretion over these case management issues.

2. The MSBA requests that the current timing mechanism for automatic disclosures be modified to defer disclosures until the parties hold a discovery conference. MSBA Petition at 14, ¶ 17. The time for automatic disclosures runs from the due date of an answer. The current rule was established on the recommendation of this Court's Task Force on Civil Justice Reform in 2011. See Recommendations of the Minnesota Supreme Court Civil Justice Reform Task Force, Final Report, No. ADM10-8051 (Minn. Sup. Ct. Dec. 23, 2011). The current rule facilitates prompt early disclosures, and the advisory committee believes that the current rule is working well. The committee accordingly recommends that the requested changes should not be implemented.
3. The MSBA petitioned the Court to amend Rule 63.03 to change the deadline to remove a judge from 10 to 14 days. The committee considered that proposal, as well as the alternative of shortening the time period from 10 to 7 days in order to expedite the assignment of the judge who will actually preside over the case, but decided at the minimum it would not recommend lengthening the time period. (This comment relates to MSBA Petition at 34, ¶ 31.)
4. The MSBA Petition includes several requests that would amend references to "affidavits" to become "affidavits or declarations." Rule 15 of the Minnesota General Rules of Practice expressly defines, for all trial court proceedings, "affidavit" to include both documents signed under penalty of perjury and those signed, sworn to, and notarized. The committee does not recommend using the additional phrasing "or declarations" in these rules.

**Recommendation 4: The Court Should Amend Rule 63 to Incorporate the Standard Established in the Code of Judicial Conduct as the Standard for Disqualification or Recusal of Judges.**

**Introduction**

The advisory committee reviewed the Petition of the Board of Judicial Standards to amend Rule 63 to incorporate the disqualification standard of the Code of Judicial Conduct, replacing the archaic standard of disqualification in circumstances that would require a juror to be excused.

**Specific Recommendations**

Rule 63.02 and 63.03 should be amended as follows:

**RULE 63. DISABILITY OR DISQUALIFICATION OF JUDGE;  
NOTICE TO REMOVE; ASSIGNMENT OF A JUDGE**

\* \* \*

**63.02 Interest or Bias**

No judge shall sit in any case if ~~that judge is interested in its determination or if that judge might be excluded for bias from acting therein as a juror~~ disqualified under the Code of Judicial Conduct. If there is no other judge of the district who is qualified, or if there is only one judge of the district, such judge shall forthwith notify the Chief Justice of the Minnesota Supreme Court of that judge's disqualification.

**63.03 Notice to Remove**

Any party or attorney may make and serve on the opposing party and file with the administrator a notice to remove. The notice shall be served and filed within ten days after the party receives notice of which judge or judicial officer is to preside at the trial or hearing, but not later than the commencement of the trial or hearing.

No such notice may be filed by a party or party's attorney against a judge or judicial officer who has presided at a motion or any other proceeding of which the party had notice, or who is assigned by the Chief Justice of the Minnesota Supreme Court. A judge or judicial officer who has presided at a motion or other

1045 proceeding or who is assigned by the Chief Justice of the Minnesota Supreme  
1046 Court may not be removed except upon an affirmative showing ~~of prejudice on the~~  
1047 ~~part of that~~ the judge or judicial officer is disqualified under the Code of Judicial  
1048 Conduct.

1049 After a party has once disqualified a presiding judge or judicial officer as a  
1050 matter of right, that party may disqualify the substitute judge or judicial officer,  
1051 but only by making an affirmative showing ~~of prejudice. A showing that the judge~~  
1052 ~~or judicial officer might be excluded for bias from acting as a juror in the matter~~  
1053 ~~constitutes an affirmative showing of prejudice that the judge or judicial officer is~~  
1054 disqualified under the Code of Judicial Conduct.

1055 Upon the filing of a notice to remove or if a litigant makes an affirmative  
1056 showing ~~of prejudice against that~~ a substitute judge or judicial officer is  
1057 disqualified under the Code of Judicial Conduct, the chief judge of the judicial  
1058 district shall assign any other judge of any court within the district, or a judicial  
1059 officer in the case of a substitute judicial officer, to hear the cause.

1060

1061 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1062 Rule 63 is amended to apply the disqualification standard of the Minnesota  
1063 Code of Judicial Conduct to disqualification under the civil rules. The standard in  
1064 the existing rule—whether the judicial officer would be excused from service as a  
1065 juror and tying that determination to an affirmative showing of prejudice—does  
1066 not accurately state the correct standard. Rule 26.03, subd. 14(3) of the Minnesota  
1067 Rules of Criminal Procedure uses the Code of Judicial Conduct standard, and the  
1068 Minnesota Supreme Court has applied the Code of Judicial Conduct for deciding  
1069 questions of disqualification of judges on the Minnesota Court of Appeals. *See*  
1070 *Powell v. Anderson*, 660 N.W.2d 107, 114–15 (Minn. 2003). The juror-based  
1071 standard dates back to Minnesota’s Territorial days. *See* Minn. Rev. Stat. 1851, ch.  
1072 69, art. 2, § 5. The standard has not been modified in the civil rules since, including  
1073 upon the adoption of the Code of Judicial Conduct by the Minnesota Supreme  
1074 Court in 1974.

1075 This amended rule adopts a standard for disqualification or recusal of a judge  
1076 that is clearer and readily accessible to judges and litigants. Although close  
1077 questions of disqualification may properly be resolved in favor of disqualification,  
1078 the Code of Judicial Conduct also recognizes that a judicial officer has an  
1079 affirmative duty to hear matters properly assigned where disqualification is not  
1080 required by the Code. *See* Rule 2.7 of the Code of Judicial Conduct.

**Recommendation 5:           The Court Should Amend Rule 10 to Provide  
Explicitly for Confidential Filings Pursuant to Law  
or Court Order**

**Introduction**

This recommendation was prompted by the Minnesota Legislature’s adoption of Minn. Laws 2016, ch. 126, §§ 1 & 2, codified as Minn. Stat. § 604.30–31. The law creates a civil cause of action for the nonconsensual dissemination of private sexual images (so-called “revenge porn”). Among its other provisions, the law mandates that “The court shall allow confidential filings to protect the privacy of the plaintiff in cases filed under this section.” Minn. Stat. § 604.31, subd. 5. Although the courts can comply with this statute without requiring amendment of the rules, the committee believes that it will make confusion less likely if Rule 10 is amended to address the statute directly. Even this unusual statute, which appears to require the court to allow anonymity in cases arising under it, does not create a right simply to proceed without leave of court. In addition, because issues do arise because of a desire to proceed anonymously in litigation, the committee believes that a general provision that alerts litigants to the need to obtain leave of court to proceed in this exceptional manner will be helpful.

This recommendation does not include the committee’s recommendation to remove the reference to Form 23 from Rule 10. On July 14, 2017, the Court adopted that recommendation effective on September 1, 2017.

**Specific recommendation**

Rule 10.01 should be amended as follows:



1082 **RULE 10. FORM OF PLEADINGS**

1083 **10.01. Caption; Names of Parties**

1084  
1085 Every pleading shall have a caption setting forth the name of the court and the  
1086 county in which the action is brought, the title of the action, the court file number  
1087 if one has been assigned, and a designation as in Rule 7, and, in the upper ~~right~~  
1088 ~~hand~~ right-hand corner, the appropriate case type indicator as set forth in the  
1089 subject matter index included in the appendix as Form 23. If a case is assigned to  
1090 a particular judge for all subsequent proceedings, the name of that judge shall be  
1091 included in the caption and adjacent to the file number. In the complaint, the title  
1092 of the action shall include the names of all the parties, but in other pleadings it is  
1093 sufficient to state the first party on each side with an appropriate indication of  
1094 other parties. A party may be identified by initials or pseudonym only where  
1095 authorized by law or court order.

1096  
1097  
1098 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1099 Rule 10.01 is amended to add the final sentence to clarify that, although actions  
1100 must normally be brought in the name of the real party in interest (see Rule 17.01),  
1101 in certain limited circumstances the court may allow a party to proceed  
1102 anonymously. In actions brought pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 604.31 for the  
1103 nonconsensual dissemination of private sexual images (so-called “revenge porn”),  
1104 the party is entitled to an order allowing anonymity (such as by using the  
1105 pseudonym “John Doe” or “Jane Doe” or a party’s real or substituted initials), but  
1106 a court order is still required. In other exceptional circumstances, a party must  
1107 obtain leave of court to proceed either under a pseudonym or by initials, and that  
1108 relief is governed by the court’s discretion.

**Recommendation 6: The Court Should Make Housekeeping Amendments to Rules 31.01 and 67.04**

**Introduction**

The committee has identified three minor mistakes in the rules that should be corrected at this time. The first would correct a cross-reference to comport with the original intent of the rule; the second would modify the rule to delete a reference to a repealed statute. None of these changes is intended to modify the intended operation of the rule and the committee does not believe this recommendation is at all controversial.

**Specific recommendations**

1. Rule 31.01 should be amended in two places as follows:

**RULE 31. DEPOSITIONS OF WITNESSES UPON WRITTEN QUESTIONS**

**31.01 Serving Questions; Notice**

- (a) A party may take the testimony of any person, including a party, by deposition upon written questions without leave of court except as provided in paragraph (2 b). The attendance of witnesses may be compelled by the use of subpoena as provided in Rule 45.
- (b) A party must obtain leave of court, which shall be granted to the extent consistent with the principles stated in Rule 26.02(a b), if the person to be examined is confined in prison or if, without the written stipulation of the parties, the person to be examined has already been deposed in the case.

\* \* \*

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rule 31.01(a) is amended to correct the cross-reference to paragraph 2(b) of the rule. Rule 31.01(b) is similarly amended only to correct the cross-reference to the correct paragraph of Rule 26.02. These amendments are not intended to change the operation or interpretation of either rule.

2. Rule 67.04 should be amended as follows:

1127

## **RULE 67. DEPOSIT IN COURT**

1128

\* \* \*

1129

### **67.04. Money Paid into Court**

1130

1131

1132

1133

1134

1135

1136

1137

1138

1139

Where money is paid into the court pending the result of any legal proceedings, the judge may order it deposited in a ~~designated state or national bank account maintained by the court administrator. or savings bank. In the absence of such order, the court administrator is the official custodian of all moneys, and the judge, on application of any person paying such money into court, may require the court administrator to give an additional bond, conditioned as the bond authorized in Minnesota Statutes, section 485.01, in such amount as the judge shall order.~~

#### **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendment**

1140

1141

1142

1143

1144

1145

1146

1147

Rule 67.04 is amended to reflect the abrogation of the statutory bond requirement for court administrators found in the prior version of the rule. *See* 2006 Minn. Laws, ch. 260, art 5, § 40. Because of that legislative change, the rule is amended to allow deposit in court by order of the court. The court can determine the appropriate terms for that deposit. As a practical matter, an order is necessary to authorize the administrator to accept the funds and to provide for release of the funds upon further order.

**Recommendation 7: The Court Should Include an Advisory Committee Comment to Rule 12 to Advise Litigants of a Statute that Establishes an Extended Period for Responding to a Complaint**

**Introduction**

The Minnesota Legislature enacted a statute in 2017 that establishes a longer period to respond to certain actions. Minn. Laws 2017, ch. 80, section 3. The advisory committee does not believe this recommendation is at all controversial.

**Specific recommendations**

The court should include an advisory committee comment following Rule 12 to advise litigants of the 60-day time to respond established by the Legislature for certain actions involving claims of architectural barriers to public access to buildings. *See* Minn. Laws 2017, ch. 80, §§ 7 & 3, to be codified as Minn. Stat. § 363A.331, subds. 2 & 2a.

1148  
1149  
1150  
1151  
1152  
1153  
1154  
1155  
1156  
1157

**RULE 12. DEFENSES AND OBJECTIONS; WHEN AND HOW PRESENTED; BY PLEADING OR MOTION; MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON PLEADINGS**

\* \* \*

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendment**

1158  
1159  
1160  
1161  
1162

Rule 12.01 establishes the time to respond to a complaint. In 2017 the Minnesota Legislature adopted a statute that extends the time to respond to certain actions relating to architectural barriers to public access to buildings. *See* Minn. Laws 2017, ch. 80, §§ 7 & 3, to be codified as Minn. Stat. § 363A.331, subds. 2 & 2a. The statute applies to actions brought on or after May 24, 2017.

**ATTACHMENT 1**

**AMENDMENTS DIRECTED TO TIMING UNDER THE CIVIL RULES**

In the interest of simplicity, this Attachment 1 contains the amendments to the Minnesota Rules of Civil Procedure in effect on July 1, 2017, with only the amendments relating to timing that are the subject of Recommendation 1 of the report to which they are appended. **This Attachment does not incorporate any of the other recommendations set forth in the Report.**

**The advisory committee comments included here are tentative only, and should be reviewed and updated at the time of implementation of these amendments.**

**MINNESOTA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

\* \* \*

**RULE 4. SERVICE**

\* \* \*

**4.042. Service of the Complaint**

If the defendant shall appear within ~~ten~~ 14 days after the completion of service by publication, the plaintiff, within ~~five~~ 7 days after such appearance, shall serve the complaint, by copy, on the defendant or the defendant’s attorney. The defendant shall then have at least ~~ten~~ 21 days in which to answer the same.

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rule 4.042 is amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule.

The amendment to Rule 4.042 also lengthens the time to respond to a Complaint served following service of the Summons by publication to 21 days. This is the same period a party has following other forms of service of the Complaint, and there is no reason to require a shorter period. See Rule 12.01. This amendment is intended to obviate at least some motions for extension of the time to answer that are encountered under the shorter deadline in the previous rule.

1190  
1191  
1192  
1193  
1194  
1195  
1196  
1197  
1198  
1199  
1200  
1201  
1202  
1203  
1204  
1205  
1206  
1207  
1208  
1209  
1210  
1211  
1212  
1213  
1214  
1215  
1216  
1217  
1218  
1219  
1220  
1221  
1222  
1223  
1224  
1225  
1226  
1227  
1228  
1229  
1230  
1231  
1232  
1233  
1234

\* \* \*  
  
  
  
  
  
  
\* \* \*

**RULE 5. SERVICE AND FILING OF PLEADINGS AND OTHER PAPERS  
DOCUMENTS**

**5.05. Filing; Facsimile Transmission**

Except where filing is required by electronic means by rule of court, any document may be filed with the court by facsimile transmission. Filing shall be deemed complete at the time that the facsimile transmission is received by the court and the filed facsimile shall have the same force and effect as the original. Only facsimile transmission equipment that satisfies the published criteria of the Supreme Court shall be used for filing in accordance with this rule.

Within ~~five~~ 7 days after the court has received the transmission, the party filing the document shall forward the following to the court:

- (a) a \$25 transmission fee for each 50 pages, or part thereof, of the filing;
- (b) any bulky exhibits or attachments; and
- (c) the applicable filing fee or fees, if any.

If a document is filed by facsimile, the sender’s original must not be filed but must be maintained in the files of the party transmitting it for filing and made available to the court or any party to the action upon request.

Upon failure to comply with the requirements of this rule, the court in which the action is pending may make such orders as are just, including but not limited to, an order striking pleadings or parts thereof, staying further proceedings until compliance is complete, or dismissing the action, proceeding, or any part thereof.

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rule 5.05 is amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule.

\* \* \*

**RULE 6. TIME**

**6.01. Computation**

1235  
1236  
1237  
1238  
1239  
1240  
1241  
1242  
1243  
1244  
1245  
1246  
1247  
1248  
1249  
1250  
1251  
1252  
1253  
1254  
1255  
1256  
1257  
1258  
1259  
1260  
1261  
1262  
1263  
1264  
1265  
1266  
1267  
1268  
1269  
1270  
1271  
1272  
1273  
1274

~~(a) — **Computation of Time Periods.** In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by these rules, by the local rules of any district court, by order of court, or by any applicable statute, the day of the act, event, or default from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The last day of the period so computed shall be included, unless it is a~~

- ~~• — Saturday,~~
- ~~• — Sunday,~~
- ~~• — legal holiday, or,~~  
~~when the act to be done is the filing of a document in court, a day on which weather or other conditions result in the closing of the office of the court administrator of the court where the action is pending, or~~
- ~~• — where filing or service is either permitted or required to be made electronically, a day on which unavailability of the computer system used by the court for electronic filing and service makes it impossible to accomplish service or filing, in which event the period runs until the end of the next day that is not one of the aforementioned days.~~

(a) **Computing Time.** The following rules apply in computing any time period specified in these rules, in any local rule or court order, or in any statute that does not specify a method of computing time.

(1) Period Stated in Days or a Longer Unit of Time. When the period is stated in days or a longer unit of time:

- (A) exclude the day of the event that triggers the period;
- (B) count every day, including intermediate Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays; and
- (C) include the last day of the period, but if the last day is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, the period continues to run until the end of the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

(2) Periods Shorter than 7 Days. Only if expressly so provided by any other rule or statute, a time period that is less than 7 days may exclude intermediate Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays.

(3) Period Stated in Hours. When the period is stated in hours:

- (A) begin counting immediately on the occurrence of the event that triggers the period;
- (B) count every hour, including hours occurring during intermediate Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays; and

1275 (C) if the period would end on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday,  
1276 the period continues to run until the same time on the next day that is  
1277 not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

1278 (4) Inaccessibility of the Court Administrator’s Office. Unless the court  
1279 orders otherwise, if the court administrator’s office is inaccessible:

1280 (A) on the last day for filing or service under Rule 6.01(a)(1), then  
1281 the time for filing is extended to the first accessible day that is not a  
1282 Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday; or

1283 (B) during the last hour for filing under Rule 6.01(a)(1), then the  
1284 time for filing is extended to the same time on the first accessible day  
1285 that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

1286 ~~(b) **Periods Shorter than 7 Days.** When the period of time prescribed~~  
1287 ~~or allowed is less than seven days, intermediate Saturdays, Sundays,~~  
1288 ~~and legal holidays shall be excluded in the computation.~~

1290 (b) “Last Day” Defined. Unless a different time is set by a statute, local  
1291 rule, or court order, the last day ends:

1292 (1) for electronic filing, at 11:59 p.m. local Minnesota time; and

1293 (2) for filing by other means, when the Court Administrator’s office  
1294 is scheduled to close.

1295 (c) “Next Day” Defined. The “next day” is determined by continuing to  
1296 count forward when the period is measured after an event and backward when  
1297 measured before an event.

1299 (ed) Definition of Legal Holiday. As used in this rule and in Rule 77(c),  
1300 “legal holiday” includes any holiday designated in Minn. Stat. § 645.44, subd. 5,  
1301 as a holiday for the state or any state-wide branch of government and any day that  
1302 the United States Mail does not operate.

1304 (e) Additional Time After Service by Mail or Service Late in Day.

1305 Whenever a party has the right or is required to do some act or take some  
1306 proceedings within a prescribed period after the service of a notice or other  
1307 document upon the party, and the notice or document is served upon the party by  
1308 United States Mail, 3 days shall be added to the prescribed period.

1309 If service is made by any means other than United States Mail and  
1310 accomplished after 5:00 p.m. local Minnesota time on the day of service, 1  
1311 additional day shall be added to the prescribed period.

1312 \* \* \*

1315 **6.04. For Motions; Affidavits**

1316



1317 ~~A written motion, other than one which may be heard ex parte, and notice of~~  
1318 ~~the hearing thereof shall be served no later than five 5 days before the time specified~~  
1319 ~~for the hearing, unless a different period is fixed by these rules or by order of the~~  
1320 ~~court. Such an order may for cause shown be made on ex parte application. When~~  
1321 ~~a motion is supported by affidavit, the affidavit shall be served with the motion; and,~~  
1322 ~~except as otherwise provided in Rule 59.04, opposing affidavits may be served not~~  
1323 ~~later than one 1 day before the hearing, unless the court permits them to be served~~  
1324 ~~at some other time. The deadlines for service and filing of motions, as well as~~  
1325 ~~affidavits and other documents in support of or responding to motions, are governed~~  
1326 ~~by the Minnesota General Rules of Practice.~~

1327  
1328  
1329 **6.05. [Abrogated]. ~~Additional Time After Service by Mail or Service Late in Day~~**

1330  
1331 ~~Whenever a party has the right or is required to do some act or take some~~  
1332 ~~proceedings within a prescribed period after the service of a notice or other document~~  
1333 ~~upon the party, and the notice or document is served upon the party by United States~~  
1334 ~~Mail, three days shall be added to the prescribed period. If service is made by any means~~  
1335 ~~other than United States Mail and accomplished after 5:00 p.m. local Minnesota time on~~  
1336 ~~the day of service, one additional day shall be added to the prescribed period.~~

1337  
1338  
1339 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1340 The amendments to Rule 6.01 are important and are the key to the amendments  
1341 to several other rules relating to timing. These amendments implement the  
1342 adoption of a standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all  
1343 days regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods,  
1344 where practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The most important change  
1345 is found in Rule 6.01(a)(1)(B), which establishes “a day is a day”—all days during  
1346 a period under the rules, regardless of length, are included, including weekends  
1347 and legal holidays. This change mirrors a set of changes made in the Federal Rules  
1348 of Civil Procedure, and is intended to create substantial similarity between “state  
1349 days” and “federal days.” Minnesota and the federal government recognize slightly  
1350 different legal holidays.

1351 Rule 4.06 has for years required that proof of service include the time of  
1352 service for all forms of service other than service by publication. Compliance with  
1353 Rule 4.06 is especially important because of the need to know the time of service  
1354 in order to calculate response deadlines.

1355 Rule 6.01(c) is also an important provision that will affect many deadlines. It  
1356 establishes an explicit rule for how days are counted when counting “backwards”  
1357 from a deadline. The rule requires that, when counting backwards from an event,  
1358 and the last day falls on a weekend or holiday, the counting continues to the next  
1359 earlier date that is not a weekend or holiday. This rule is modeled on its federal  
1360 counterpart and is intended to create greater uniformity in timing between state and  
1361 federal court matters.

1362 Rule 6.01(e) appears as new text, but is the former Rule 6.05 relocated to Rule  
1363 6.01 because it addresses the same timing matters.

1364 Rule 6.04 is rewritten because it is superseded by the more specific provisions  
1365 of Rule 115 of the Minnesota General Rules of Practice. Additionally, Rule 56 of

1366  
1367  
1368  
1369  
1370  
1371  
1372  
1373  
1374  
1375  
1376  
1377  
1378  
1379  
1380  
1381  
1382  
1383  
1384  
1385  
1386  
1387  
1388  
1389  
1390  
1391  
1392  
1393  
1394  
1395  
1396  
1397  
1398  
1399  
1400  
1401  
1402  
1403  
1404  
1405  
1406  
1407  
1408  
1409  
1410  
1411  
1412  
1413  
1414

the civil rules establishes a very important deadline for summary judgment motions—“in no event shall the motion be served less than 10 days before the time fixed for the hearing.” Minn. R. Civ. P. 56.03. This limit on shortened notice recognizes the power of the summary judgment motion and its potential to be case- or defense-terminating and provides an opportunity for the responding party to prepare a response and be heard.

Rule 6.05 is abrogated only because its text is now incorporated in Rule 6.01(e).

**III. PLEADINGS AND MOTIONS**

\* \* \*

**RULE 12. DEFENSES AND OBJECTIONS; WHEN AND HOW PRESENTED; BY PLEADING OR MOTION; MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON PLEADINGS**

**12.01. When Presented**

Defendant shall serve an answer within ~~20~~ 21 days after service of the summons upon that defendant unless the court directs otherwise pursuant to Rule 4.043. A party served with a pleading stating a cross-claim against that party shall serve an answer thereto within ~~20~~ 21 days after the service upon that party. The plaintiff shall serve a reply to a counterclaim in the answer within ~~20~~ 21 days after service of the answer or, if a reply is ordered by the court, within ~~20~~ 21 days after service of the order, unless the order otherwise directs. The service of a motion permitted under this rule alters these periods of time as follows unless a different time is fixed by order of the court: (1) If the court denies the motion or postpones its disposition until the trial on the merits, the responsive pleading shall be served within ~~ten~~ 14 days after service of notice of the court’s action; (2) if the court grants a motion for a more definite statement, the responsive pleading shall be served within ~~ten~~ 14 days after the service of the more definite statement.

\* \* \*

**12.05. Motion for More Definite Statement, for Paragraphing and for Separate Statement**

If a pleading to which a responsive pleading is permitted violates the provisions of Rule 10.02, or is so vague and ambiguous that a party cannot reasonably be required to frame a responsive pleading, the party may move for a compliance with Rule 10.02 or for a more definite statement before interposing a responsive pleading. The motion shall point out the defects complained of and the details desired. If the motion is granted and the order of the court is not obeyed within ~~ten~~ 14 days after service of notice of the order or within such other time as the court may fix, the court may strike the pleading to which the motion was directed or make such order as it deems just.

**12.06. Motion to Strike**

1415 Upon motion made by a party before responding to a pleading or, if no responsive  
1416 pleading is permitted by these rules, upon motion made by a party within ~~20~~ 21 days after  
1417 the service of the pleading upon the party, or upon its own initiative at any time, the court  
1418 may order any pleading not in compliance with Rule 11 stricken as sham and false, or  
1419 may order stricken from any pleading any insufficient defense or any redundant,  
1420 immaterial, impertinent or scandalous matter.

1421 \* \* \*

#### 1422 1423 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1424 Rule 12.01 is amended as part of the amendments made to the timing  
1425 provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard  
1426 “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the  
1427 length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-,  
1428 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The changes to this rule change only the time limits,  
1429 and are not intended to have any other effect.

1430 Rule 12.05 is amended as part of the amendments made to the timing  
1431 provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard  
1432 “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the  
1433 length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-,  
1434 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule lengthens the 10-day  
1435 period to respond to an order under the rule to 14 days. This changes only the time  
1436 limit, and is not intended to have any other effect.

1437 Rule 12.06 is amended as part of the amendments made to the timing  
1438 provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard  
1439 “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the  
1440 length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-,  
1441 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule lengthens the 20-day  
1442 period to file a motion to strike to 21 days. This changes only the time limit to  
1443 make it consistent with the deadline to answer contained in Rule 12.01, and is not  
1444 intended to have any other effect.

1445 \* \* \*

### 1446 1447 **RULE 15. AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTAL PLEADINGS**

#### 1448 1449 **15.01. Amendments**

1450 A party may amend a pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a  
1451 responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is  
1452 permitted and the action has not been placed upon the trial calendar, the party may so  
1453 amend it at any time within ~~20~~ 21 days after it is served. Otherwise a party may amend a  
1454 pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall  
1455 be freely given when justice so requires. A party shall plead in response to an amended  
1456 pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within ~~ten~~ 14  
1457 days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be longer, unless the  
1458 court otherwise orders.

1459 \* \* \*

1464 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1465 Rule 15.01 is amended as part of the amendments made to the timing  
1466 provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard  
1467 “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the  
1468 length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-,  
1469 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only changes to this rule lengthen the 20-day limit  
1470 to 21 days and the 10-day limit to 14 days. These changes affect only the time  
1471 limits, and are not intended to have any other effect.

1472  
1473 **IV. PARTIES**

1474 \* \* \*

1475  
1476  
1477 **V. DEPOSITIONS AND DISCOVERY**

1478  
1479  
1480 **RULE 26. DUTY TO DISCLOSE;**  
1481 **GENERAL PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISCOVERY**

1482 \* \* \*

1483  
1484  
1485 **26.06. Discovery Conference**

1486 \* \* \*

1487  
1488  
1489 **(d) Conference with the Court.** At any time after service of the  
1490 summons, the court may direct the attorneys for the parties to appear before it for a  
1491 conference on the subject of discovery. The court shall do so upon motion by the  
1492 attorney for any party if the motion includes:

- 1493 (1) A statement of the issues as they then appear;  
1494 (2) A proposed plan and schedule of discovery;  
1495 (3) Any issues relating to disclosure or discovery of electronically stored  
1496 information, including the form or forms in which it should be produced;  
1497 (4) Any issues relating to claims of privilege or of protection as  
1498 trial-preparation material, including—if the parties agree on a procedure to  
1499 assert such claims after production—whether to ask the court to include  
1500 their agreement in an order.  
1501 (5) Any limitations proposed to be placed on discovery;  
1502 (6) Any other proposed orders with respect to discovery; and  
1503 (7) A statement showing that the attorney making the motion has made a  
1504 reasonable effort to reach agreement with opposing attorneys on the matter  
1505 set forth in the motion. All parties and attorneys are under a duty to  
1506 participate in good faith in the framing of any proposed discovery plan.  
1507

1508 Notice of the motion shall be served on all parties. Objections or additions  
1509 to matters set forth in the motion shall be served not later than ~~ten~~ 14 days after the  
1510 service of the motion.

1511

1512 Following the discovery conference, the court shall enter an order  
1513 tentatively identifying the issues for discovery purposes, establishing a plan and  
1514 schedule for discovery, setting limitations on discovery, if any, and determining  
1515 such other matters, including the allocation of expenses, as are necessary for the  
1516 proper management of discovery in the action. An order may be altered or  
1517 amended whenever justice so requires.

1518

1519 Subject to the right of a party who properly moves for a discovery  
1520 conference to prompt convening of the conference, the court may combine the  
1521 discovery conference with a pretrial conference authorized by Rule 16.

1522

1523

1524 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1525 Rule 26.06(d) is amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the  
1526 timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a  
1527 standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days  
1528 regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where  
1529 practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule  
1530 lengthens the 10-day limit to 14 days to respond to a motion for a discovery  
1531 conference. This change affects only the time limit, and is not intended to have any  
1532 other effect.

1533

1534

1535 \* \* \*

1536

1537 **RULE 27. DEPOSITION BEFORE ACTION OR PENDING APPEAL**

1538

1539 **27.01. Before Action**

1540

1541 (a) **Petition.** A person who desires to perpetuate testimony regarding any  
1542 matter may file a verified petition in the district court of the county of the  
1543 residence of an expected adverse party. The petition shall be entitled in  
1544 the name of the petitioner and shall show

1545 (1) that the petitioner expects to be a party to an action but is presently  
1546 unable to bring it or cause it to be brought;

1547 (2) the subject matter of the expected action and the petitioner’s  
1548 interest therein;

1549 (3) the facts which the petitioner desires to establish by the proposed  
1550 testimony and the reasons for desiring to perpetuate it;

1551 (4) the names or a description of the persons the petitioner expects will  
1552 be adverse parties and their addresses so far as known; and

1553 (5) the names and addresses of the persons to be examined and the  
1554 substance of the testimony which the petitioner expects to elicit  
1555 from each.

1556 The petition shall ask for an order authorizing the petitioner to take the  
1557 deposition of those persons to be examined as named in the petition, for  
1558 the purpose of perpetuating their testimony.

1559 (b) **Notice and Service.** The petitioner shall thereafter serve a notice upon  
1560 each person named in the petition as an expected adverse party, together  
1561 with a copy of the petition, stating that the petitioner will apply to the  
1562 court, at a time and place named therein, for the order described in the  
1563 petition. At least ~~20~~ 21 days before the date of hearing, the notice shall be  
1564 served either within or outside the state in the manner provided in Rule  
1565 4.03 for service of summons; but if such service cannot with due diligence  
1566 be made upon any expected adverse party named in the petition, the court  
1567 may make such order as is just for service by publication or otherwise, and  
1568 shall appoint, for persons not served in the manner provided in Rule 4.03,  
1569 an attorney who shall represent them, and, in case they are not otherwise  
1570 represented, shall cross-examine the deponent. If any expected adverse  
1571 party is a minor or incompetent, the provisions of Rule 17.02 apply.

1572  
1573 \* \* \*  
1574

1575  
1576 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1577 Rule 27.01(b) is amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the  
1578 timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a  
1579 standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days  
1580 regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where  
1581 practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule  
1582 lengthens the 20-day notice requirement before hearing a petition to 21 days. This  
1583 change affects only the time limit, and is not intended to have any other effect.

1584  
1585  
1586 **RULE 32. USE OF DEPOSITIONS IN COURT PROCEEDINGS**

1587 \* \* \*  
1588

1589  
1590 **32.04. Effect of Errors and Irregularities in Depositions**

1591  
1592 (a) **As to Notice.** All errors and irregularities in the notice for taking a  
1593 deposition are waived unless written objection is promptly served upon the  
1594 party giving the notice.

1595  
1596 (b) **As to Disqualification of Officer.** Objection to taking a deposition  
1597 because of disqualification of the officer before whom it is to be taken is  
1598 waived unless made before the taking of the deposition begins or as soon  
1599 thereafter as the disqualification becomes known or could be discovered  
1600 with reasonable diligence.

1601  
1602  
1603  
1604  
1605  
1606  
1607  
1608  
1609  
1610  
1611  
1612  
1613  
1614  
1615  
1616  
1617  
1618  
1619  
1620  
1621  
1622  
1623  
1624  
1625  
1626  
1627  
1628  
1629  
1630  
1631  
1632  
1633  
1634  
1635  
1636  
1637  
1638  
1639  
1640  
1641  
1642  
1643  
1644  
1645  
1646  
1647  
1648  
1649

(c) **As to Taking of Deposition.**

- (1) Objections to the competency of a witness or to the competency, relevancy, or materiality of testimony are not waived by failure to make them before or during the taking of the deposition, unless the ground of the objection is one which might have been obviated or removed if presented at that time.
- (2) Errors and irregularities occurring at the oral examination in the manner of taking the deposition, in the form of the questions or answers, in the oath or affirmation, or in the conduct of parties, and errors of any kind which might be obviated, removed, or cured if promptly presented, are waived unless seasonable objection thereto is made at the taking of the deposition.
- (3) Objections to the form of written questions submitted pursuant to Rule 31 are waived unless served in writing upon the party propounding them within the time allowed for serving the succeeding cross or other questions and within ~~five~~ 7 days after service of the last questions authorized.

\* \* \*

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rule 32.04(c)(3) is amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule lengthens the 5-day deadline for objections to the form of written questions to 7 days. This change affects only the time limit, and is not intended to have any other effect, and because weekend days and holidays are now included in the counting of days, the old 5-day period will most often be the same as the new 7-day period.

\* \* \*

**RULE 35. PHYSICAL, MENTAL, AND BLOOD EXAMINATION OF PERSONS**

\* \* \*

**35.04. Medical Disclosures and Depositions of Medical Experts**

When a party has waived medical privilege pursuant to Rule 35.03, such party within ~~ten~~ 14 days of a written request by any other party,

- (a) shall furnish to the requesting party copies of all medical reports previously or thereafter made by any treating or examining medical expert, and

1650 (b) shall provide written authority signed by the party of whom request is  
1651 made to permit the inspection of all hospital and other medical records,  
1652 concerning the physical, mental, or blood condition of such party as to  
1653 which privilege has been waived.

1654

1655 Disclosures pursuant to this rule shall include the conclusions of such treating or  
1656 examining medical expert.

1657

1658 Depositions of treating or examining medical experts shall not be taken except  
1659 upon order of the court for good cause shown upon motion and notice to the parties and  
1660 upon such terms as the court may provide.

1661

1662

1663 \* \* \*

1664 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1665 Rule 35.04 is amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the timing  
1666 provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard  
1667 “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the  
1668 length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-,  
1669 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule lengthens the 10-day  
1670 period to respond to written requests to a 14-day period. This change affects only  
1671 the time limit, and is not intended to have any other effect.

1672

1673

1674 \* \* \*

1675

1676 **VI. TRIALS**

1677

1678 \* \* \*

1679

1680 **RULE 53. MASTERS**

1681

1682 \* \* \*

1683

1684 **53.07. Action on Master’s Order, Report, or Recommendations**

1685

1686 (a) **Action.** In acting on a master’s order, report, or recommendations, the  
1687 court must afford an opportunity to be heard and may receive evidence,  
1688 and may: adopt or affirm; modify; wholly or partly reject or reverse; or  
1689 resubmit to the master with instructions.

1690

1691 (b) **Time To Object or Move.** A party may file objections to—or a motion to  
1692 adopt or modify—the master’s order, report, or recommendations no later  
1693 than ~~20~~ 21 days from the time the master’s order, report, or  
1694 recommendations are served, unless the court sets a different time.

1695

1696 \* \* \*

1697 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**



1698  
1699  
1700  
1701  
1702  
1703  
1704  
1705  
1706  
1707  
1708  
1709  
1710  
1711  
1712  
1713  
1714  
1715  
1716  
1717  
1718  
1719  
1720  
1721  
1722  
1723  
1724  
1725  
1726  
1727  
1728  
1729  
1730  
1731  
1732  
1733  
1734  
1735  
1736  
1737  
1738  
1739  
1740  
1741  
1742  
1743  
1744

Rule 53.07(b) is amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule changes the 20-day period to file a response to a master’s decision to 21 days. This change affects only the time limit, and is not intended to have any other effect.

\* \* \*

**RULE 55. DEFAULT**

**55.01. Judgment**

When a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to plead or otherwise defend within the time allowed therefor by these rules or by statute, and that fact is made to appear by affidavit, judgment by default shall be entered against that party as follows:

(a) When the plaintiff’s claim against a defendant is upon a contract for the payment of money only, or for the payment of taxes and penalties and interest thereon owing to the state, the court administrator, upon request of the plaintiff and upon affidavit of the amount due, which may not exceed the amount demanded in the complaint or in a written notice served on the defendant in accordance with Rule 4 if the complaint seeks an unspecified amount pursuant to Rule 8.01, shall enter judgment for the amount due and costs against the defendant.

(b) In all other cases, the party entitled to a judgment by default shall apply to the court therefor. If a party against whom judgment is sought has appeared in the action, that party shall be served with written notice of the application for judgment at least ~~three~~ 14 days prior to the hearing on such application. If the action is one for the recovery of money only, the court shall ascertain, by a reference or otherwise, the amount to which the plaintiff is entitled, and order judgment therefor.

(c) If relief other than the recovery of money is demanded and the taking of an account, or the proof of any fact, is necessary to enable the court to give judgment, it may take or hear the same or order a reference for that purpose, and order judgment accordingly.

(d) When service of the summons has been made by published notice, or by delivery of a copy outside the state, no judgment shall be entered on default until the plaintiff shall have filed a bond, approved by the court, conditioned to abide such order as the court may make concerning restitution of any property collected or obtained by virtue of the judgment in case a defense is thereafter permitted and sustained; provided, that in actions involving the title to real estate or to foreclose mortgages thereon such bond shall not be required.

1745 (e) When judgment is entered in an action upon a promissory note, draft or bill of  
1746 exchange under the provisions of this rule, such promissory note, draft or bill of exchange  
1747 shall be filed with the court administrator and made a part of the files of the action.  
1748

1749 \* \* \*  
1750

1751 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1752 Rule 55.01(b) is amended as part of the amendments made to the timing  
1753 provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard  
1754 “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the  
1755 length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-,  
1756 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The change to this rule lengthens the 3-day notice  
1757 provision of the rule to 14 days because the 3-day notice period has proven too  
1758 short to allow a meaningful response from the party receiving notice.  
1759

1760 \* \* \*  
1761  
1762

1763 **RULE 56. SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

1764 **56.01. For Claimant**

1765  
1766 A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim or to obtain  
1767 a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of ~~20~~ 21 days from the  
1768 service of the summons, or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the  
1769 adverse party, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in the  
1770 party’s favor upon all or any part thereof.  
1771

1772 \* \* \*  
1773  
1774

1775 **56.03. Motion and Proceedings Thereon**

1776 Service and filing of the motion shall comply with the requirements of Rule  
1777 115.03 of the General Rules of Practice for the District Courts, provided that in no event  
1778 shall the motion be served less than ~~ten~~ 14 days before the time fixed for the hearing.  
1779 Judgment shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to  
1780 interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that  
1781 there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that either party is entitled to a  
1782 judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be  
1783 rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount  
1784 of damages.  
1785

1786 \* \* \*  
1787  
1788

1789 **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1790 Rules 56.01 and 56.03 are amended as part of the extensive amendments made  
1791 to the timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption  
1792 of a standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days  
1793

1794 regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where  
1795 practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to Rule 56.01  
1796 changes the 20-day period during which a summary judgment motion cannot be  
1797 filed to 21 days. The only change to Rule 56.03 changes the 10-day period for  
1798 serving the motion in advance of the hearing to 14 days.

1799 These changes affect only the time limit, and are not intended to have any other  
1800 effect.

1801  
1802  
1803

## 1804 **RULE 59. NEW TRIALS**

1805  
1806  
1807

\* \* \*

### 1808 **59.04. Time for Serving Affidavits**

1809

1810 When a motion for a new trial is based upon affidavits, they shall be served with  
1811 the notice of motion. The opposing party shall have ~~ten~~ 14 days after such service in  
1812 which to serve opposing affidavits, which period may be extended by the court pursuant  
1813 to Rule 59.03. The court may permit reply affidavits.

1814

### 1815 **59.05. On Initiative of Court**

1816

1817 Not later than ~~15~~ 14 days after a general verdict or the filing of the decision or  
1818 order, the court upon its own initiative may order a new trial for any reason for which it  
1819 might have granted a new trial on motion of a party. After giving the parties notice and  
1820 an opportunity to be heard on the matter, the court may grant a motion for a new trial,  
1821 timely served, for a reason not stated in the motion. In either case, the court shall specify  
1822 in the order the grounds therefor.

1823

\* \* \*

1824

1825

1826

1827

#### **Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

1828

1829

1830

1831

1832

1833

1834

1835

1836

1837

1838

1839

1840

## **VII. PROVISIONAL AND FINAL REMEDIES AND SPECIAL PROCEEDINGS**

1841

1842

1843

\* \* \*

1844  
1845 **RULE 68. OFFER OF JUDGMENT OR SETTLEMENT**  
1846

1847 **Rule 68.01. Offer.**  
1848

- 1849 (a) **Time of Offer.** At any time more than ~~40~~ 14 days before the trial begins,  
1850 any party may serve upon an adverse party a written damages-only or  
1851 total-obligation offer to allow judgment to be entered to the effect  
1852 specified in the offer, or to settle the case on the terms specified in the  
1853 offer.  
1854
- 1855 (b) **Applicability of Rule.** An offer does not have the consequences provided  
1856 in Rules 68.02 and 68.03 unless it expressly refers to Rule 68.  
1857
- 1858 (c) **Damages-only Offers.** An offer made under this rule is a “damages-only”  
1859 offer unless the offer expressly states that it is a “total-obligation” offer. A  
1860 damages-only offer does not include then-accrued applicable prejudgment  
1861 interest, costs and disbursements, or applicable attorney fees, all of which  
1862 shall be added to the amount stated as provided in Rules 68.02(b)(2) and  
1863 (c).  
1864
- 1865 (d) **Total-obligation Offers.** The amount stated in an offer that is expressly  
1866 identified as a “total-obligation” offer includes then-accrued applicable  
1867 prejudgment interest, costs and disbursements, and applicable attorney  
1868 fees.  
1869
- 1870 (e) **Offer Following Determination of Liability.** When the liability of one  
1871 party to another has been determined by verdict, order, or judgment, but  
1872 the amount or extent of the liability remains to be determined by further  
1873 proceedings, the party adjudged liable may make an offer of judgment,  
1874 which shall have the same effect as an offer made before trial if it is  
1875 served within a reasonable time not less than ~~40~~ 14 days before the  
1876 commencement of a hearing or trial to determine the amount or extent of  
1877 liability.  
1878
- 1879 (f) **Filing.** Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 5.04, no offer under this  
1880 rule need be filed with the court unless the offer is accepted.  
1881

1882 **Rule 68.02. Acceptance or Rejection of Offer.**  
1883

- 1884 (a) **Time for Acceptance.** Acceptance of the offer shall be made by service  
1885 of written notice of acceptance within ~~40~~ 14 days after service of the offer.  
1886 During the ~~40~~ 14-day period the offer is irrevocable.  
1887
- 1888 (b) **Effect of Acceptance of Offer of Judgment.** If the offer accepted is an  
1889 offer of judgment, either party may file the offer and the notice of  
1890 acceptance, together with the proof of service thereof, and the court shall  
1891 order entry of judgment as follows:

1892  
1893  
1894  
1895  
1896  
1897  
1898  
1899  
1900  
1901  
1902  
1903  
1904  
1905  
1906  
1907  
1908  
1909  
1910  
1911  
1912  
1913  
1914  
1915  
1916  
1917  
1918  
1919  
1920  
1921  
1922  
1923  
1924  
1925  
1926  
1927  
1928  
1929  
1930  
1931  
1932  
1933  
1934  
1935  
1936  
1937  
1938  
1939

- (1) If the offer is a total-obligation offer as provided in Rule 68.01(d), judgment shall be for the amount of the offer.
  - (2) If the offer is a damages-only offer, applicable prejudgment interest, the plaintiff-offeree’s costs and disbursements, and applicable attorney fees, all as accrued to the date of the offer, shall be determined by the court and included in the judgment.
- (c) **Effect of Acceptance of Offer of Settlement.** If the offer accepted is an offer of settlement, the settled claim(s) shall be dismissed upon
- (1) the filing of a stipulation of dismissal stating that the terms of the offer, including payment of applicable prejudgment interest, costs and disbursements, and applicable attorney fees, all accrued to the date of the offer, have been satisfied or
  - (2) order of the court implementing the terms of the agreement.
- (d) **Offer Deemed Withdrawn.** If the offer is not accepted within the ~~10-~~14-day period, it shall be deemed withdrawn.
- (e) **Subsequent Offers.** The fact that an offer is made but not accepted does not preclude a subsequent offer. Any subsequent offer by the same party under this rule supersedes all prior offers by that party.

\* \* \*

**Advisory Committee Comment—2017 Amendments**

Rules 68.01(a), 68.02(a) & (d) are amended as part of the extensive amendments made to the timing provisions of the rules. These amendments implement the adoption of a standard “day” for counting deadlines under the rules—counting all days regardless of the length of the period and standardizing the time periods, where practicable, to a 7-, 14-, 21- or 28-day schedule. The only change to this rule extends the time to make an offer of judgment from 10 days before trial begins to 14 days before trial begins. These changes to Rule 68.02 extend the time to respond to an offer of judgment from 10 days to 14 days. These changes affect only the time limit, and are not intended to have any other effect.

\* \* \*

**VIII. DISTRICT COURTS AND COURT ADMINISTRATORS**

\* \* \*

**APPENDIX OF FORMS**

\* \* \*



1941  
1942  
1943

**FORM 1. SUMMONS**

**State of Minnesota**

**District Court**

**County of \_\_\_\_\_**

**\_\_\_\_\_ Judicial District**

\_\_\_\_\_,  
Plaintiff,

Court File Number: \_\_\_\_\_  
Case Type: \_\_\_\_\_

vs.

**Summons**

\_\_\_\_\_  
\_\_\_\_\_,  
Defendant.

1944  
1945  
1946  
1947

THIS SUMMONS IS DIRECTED TO \_\_\_\_\_.

1948  
1949  
1950  
1951  
1952  
1953

**1. YOU ARE BEING SUED.** The Plaintiff has started a lawsuit against you. The Plaintiff’s Complaint against you [is attached to this summons] [is on file in the office of the court administrator of the above-named court].\* Do not throw these papers away. They are official papers that affect your rights. You must respond to this lawsuit even though it may not yet be filed with the Court and there may be no court file number on this summons.

1954  
1955  
1956  
1957  
1958

**2. YOU MUST REPLY WITHIN 20 21\*\* DAYS TO PROTECT YOUR RIGHTS.** You must give or mail to the person who signed this summons a **written response** called an Answer within 2021\*\* days of the date on which you received this Summons. You must send a copy of your Answer to the person who signed this summons located at:

1959

\_\_\_\_\_.

1960  
1961  
1962  
1963  
1964

**3. YOU MUST RESPOND TO EACH CLAIM.** The Answer is your written response to the Plaintiff’s Complaint. In your Answer you must state whether you agree or disagree with each paragraph of the Complaint. If you believe the Plaintiff should not be given everything asked for in the Complaint, you must say so in your Answer.

1965  
1966  
1967

**4. YOU WILL LOSE YOUR CASE IF YOU DO NOT SEND A WRITTEN RESPONSE TO THE COMPLAINT TO THE PERSON WHO SIGNED THIS SUMMONS.** If you do not Answer within 20 21\*\* days, you will

1968 lose this case. You will not get to tell your side of the story, and the Court may  
1969 decide against you and award the Plaintiff everything asked for in the complaint. If  
1970 you do not want to contest the claims stated in the complaint, you do not need to  
1971 respond. A default judgment can then be entered against you for the relief requested  
1972 in the complaint.

1973 **5. LEGAL ASSISTANCE.** You may wish to get legal help from a lawyer.  
1974 If you do not have a lawyer, the Court Administrator may have information about  
1975 places where you can get legal assistance. **Even if you cannot get legal help, you**  
1976 **must still provide a written Answer to protect your rights or you may lose the**  
1977 **case.**

1978 **6. ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION.** The parties may agree to  
1979 or be ordered to participate in an alternative dispute resolution process under Rule  
1980 114 of the Minnesota General Rules of Practice. You must still send your written  
1981 response to the Complaint even if you expect to use alternative means of resolving  
1982 this dispute.

1983 **[7. To be included only if this lawsuit affects title to real property:**

1984 THIS LAWSUIT MAY AFFECT OR BRING INTO QUESTION TITLE  
1985 TO REAL PROPERTY located in \_\_\_\_\_ County, State of Minnesota, legally  
1986 described as follows:

1987 [Insert legal description of property]

1988 The object of this action is \_\_\_\_\_.]

1989

1990

1991 \_\_\_\_\_  
Plaintiff's attorney's signature

\_\_\_\_\_ Dated

1992

1993

1994 \_\_\_\_\_  
Print or type plaintiff's attorney's name

1995

1996 \* Use language in the first bracket when the complaint is served with the  
1997 summons, language in the second bracket when the complaint is filed and the  
1998 summons is served by publication.

1999 \*\* Use ~~20~~ 21 days, except that in the exceptional situations where a different  
2000 time is allowed by the court in which to answer, the different time should be  
2001 inserted.

2002

2003 \* \* \*

2004



2005  
2006  
2007  
2008  
2009  
2010  
2011  
2012  
2013  
2014  
2015  
2016  
2017  
2018  
2019  
2020  
2021  
2022  
2023  
2024  
2025  
2026  
2027  
2028  
2029  
2030  
2031  
2032  
2033  
2034  
2035  
2036  
2037  
2038  
2039  
2040  
2041  
2042  
2043  
2044  
2045

**FORM 17 - SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT AGAINST THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANT**

STATE OF MINNESOTA  
COUNTY OF \_\_\_\_\_

District Court  
\_\_\_\_\_ Judicial District

A.B., )  
Plaintiff )  
)  
vs. )  
)  
C.D., )  
Defendant and )  
Third-Party Plaintiff )  
)  
vs. )  
)  
E.F., )  
Third-Party Defendant )

SUMMONS

State of Minnesota to the Above-Named Third-Party Defendant:

You are hereby summoned and required to serve upon \_\_\_\_\_, plaintiff's attorney whose address is \_\_\_\_\_, and upon \_\_\_\_\_, who is attorney for C.D., defendant and third-party plaintiff, and whose address is \_\_\_\_\_, an answer to the third-party complaint which is herewith served upon you within ~~20~~ 21 days after the service of this summons upon you exclusive of the day of service. If you fail to do so, judgment by default will be taken against you for the relief demanded in the third-party complaint.

There is also served upon you herewith a copy of the complaint of the plaintiff which you may answer.

Signed: \_\_\_\_\_,  
Attorney for Defendant  
and Third-Party Plaintiff.  
Address: \_\_\_\_\_.

\*\*\*

*[Third-Party Complaint is not included because there are no changes to it]*

**[Form 22—Notice and Acknowledgement of Service by Mail is not included here, as the Committee is recommending its replacement before timing changes would be implemented, but it has 20-day provisions as well]**